Doctoral Dissertation (Shinshu University)

Influences of Hyperoxia and Psychological Task on Fluctuations in Local Muscle Fatigue

March 2014

Yuka Yokoi

Contents

Preface and Acknowledgments	1
Abbreviations	3
Chapter 1. Introduction	5
1.1 Background	6
1.2 Local Muscle Fatigue	8
1.3 Methods for Recovery from Local Muscle Fatigue	9
1.3.1 Normobaric Hyperoxia	10
1.4 Local Muscle Fatigue and Psychological Task	12
1.5 Assessment of Local Muscle Fatigue and Recovery Rate	13
1.5.1 Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction	
and Endurance Time to Exhaustion	13
1.5.2 Surface Electromyography	13
1.5.3 Near-infrared Spectroscopy	14
1.5.4 Blood Lactate Concentration	15
1.5.5 Perceived Exertion	16
1.6 Experimental Approach	17
References	19
Terminology	22
Chapter 2. Recovery Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia	
~ Peripheral Factor in Local Muscle Fatigue ~	23
2.1 Background	24
2.2 Methods	25
2.2.1 Subjects	25

2.2.2 Procedures	25
2.2.3 Statistical Analysis	28
2.3 Results	29
2.3.1 Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction	29
2.3.2 Endurance Time	30
2.3.3 Surface Electromyography Power Spectrum Signals	30
2.3.4 Near-Infrared Spectroscopy	31
2.4 Discussion	31
2.5 Conclusions	36
References	37
Terminology	39
Chapter 3. Recovery Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia	
~ Central and/or Peripheral Factors in Local Muscle Fatigue ~	40
3.1 Background	41
3.2 Methods	42
3.2.1 Subjects	42
3.2.2 Procedures	42
3.2.3 Statistical Analysis	45
3.3 Results	46
3.3.1 Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction	46
3.3.2 Integrated EMG Activity	47
3.3.3 Endurance Time to Exhaustion	47
3.3.4 Blood Lactate Concentration	48
3.3.5 Perceived Exertion	49

viscussion	50
onclusions	53
rences	54
Influences of Psychological Task on Local Muscle Fatigue	56
ackground	57
Iethods	58
4.2.1 Subjects	58
4.2.2 Procedures	58
4.2.3 Statistical Analysis	61
esults	61
4.3.1 Degree of Psychological Task	61
4.3.2 Value of Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction	61
4.3.3 Endurance Time to Exhaustion	63
4.3.4 Surface Electromyography Power Spectrum Signals	63
viscussion	64
onclusions	68
rences	69
inology	71
Conclusions and Practical Applications	72
rence	76
apers / Referencing Paper	77
Conference Presentations	78
	iscussion onclusions ences Influences of Psychological Task on Local Muscle Fatigue ackground tethods 4.2.1 Subjects 4.2.2 Procedures 4.2.3 Statistical Analysis esults 4.3.1 Degree of Psychological Task 4.3.2 Value of Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction 4.3.3 Endurance Time to Exhaustion 4.3.4 Surface Electromyography Power Spectrum Signals tiscussion onclusions ences inology Conclusions and Practical Applications ence

Preface and Acknowledgments

The process of writing this thesis is a great catalyst for growth of myself. I read a quote quite a while ago and now remember:

'To learn, read. To know, write. To master, teach.'

Although I am still on the way of learning, knowing and mastering physiotherapy, this thesis work surely upgraded me as a reader, writer, and teacher.

There are so many people without whose support this thesis would never have been completed and to whom I owe my heartfelt thanks. To Professor Koji Abe, who is an amazing researcher, for your understanding and flexibility in the PhD process. You have always impressed me and given me the immense learning journey. I am also thankful to Professor Iwao Yamamoto, Professor Masayoshi Kamijo, Associate Professor Yoshiro Ogoma, Associate Professor Tetsuya Fujimoto, Associate Professor Hiroaki Yoshida, who have refined my thinking, and I am grateful for all the experience and growth they have fostered. To Professor Takayuki Fujiwara, who continues to be passionate and to inspire me as a researcher, teacher, and physiotherapist. I am forever grateful to you for giving me this PhD opportunity and continual encouragement. Thanks to Professor Ryuya Yanagihashi, who have spent much time of him to supervise and lead me throughout the PhD process. I owe you for your great supports, understanding, flexibility and expertise. To all stuff in the Koriyama Institute of Health Sciences, especially to Professor Noboru Goto, Professor Ken Yanagisawa, Dr. Masaaki Hanaoka, Dr. Kenji Handa, Mr. Toshihiro Endo, Dr. Kazunori Morozumi, Dr. Kunio Yoshizaki, Professor Hiroshi Karasuno, Mr. Hisayoshi Ogihara, Mr. Masao Hashimoto, for their warm supports and efficiencies that allow me freedom to do research work smoothly. Thanks to Mr. Yoetsu Ogata, an amazing clinical expert to influence my path, and who gave me this great opportunity. I forever appreciate everything you have done for me. To Mr. Katsuyuki Morishita, my PhD fellow, for your expertise and continuous encouragement. I have learned much from you. To Mr. Robert Holt, who used his fine English editing skills to improve my grammar and punctuation. My papers dramatically read much better thanks to your contributions. I also wish to thank to all

subjects for their kind corporation. Finally, to my family, Dad, Mum, Maki-nei, Rie, Akane and Hina, who have all graciously have the snippets of time left over doing PhD and working away from Osaka, all the while providing encouragement, love, laughter, and moral support to keep going. I owe all of you my heartfelt gratitude.

I wish that my PhD work would help and support someone in the future as I have been supported by people around me. In order to do so, I strongly feel the need of my further growth as a researcher, clinician and teacher. Yes, this is the start!

Abbreviations

ANOVA	analysis of variance			
ATA	atmosphere absolute			
ATP	adenosine triphosphate			
Ca ²⁺	calcium ion			
CFF	critical flicker frequency			
Deoxy-Hb	deoxy-hemoglobin			
EMG	electromyography			
FFT	fast Fourier transform			
fMRI	functional magnetic resonance imaging			
\mathbf{H}^+	proton			
HBO	hyperbaric hyperoxia			
нох	normobaric hyperoxia			
iEMG	integrated electromyography			
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase			
MEXT	Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology			
MF	median frequency			
MVC	maximum voluntary contraction			
MVIC	maximum voluntary isometric contraction			
NCAA	National Collegiate Athletic Association			
NIRS	near-infrared spectroscopy			
NOX	normobaric normoxia			
O_2	oxygen			
Oxy-Hb	oxy-hemoglobin			
PCr	phosphocreatine			
pH	potential Hydrogen			
Pi	phosphate			
РТ	psychological task			

R	rest			
RF	rectus femoris			
RPE	rate of perceived exertion			
SD	standard deviation			
SEM	standard error of the mean			
sEMG	surface electromyography			
THb	total (tissue) hemoglobin			
VAS	visual analog scale			
VL	vastus lateralis			
VO ₂ max	maximum oxygen uptake			

Chapter 1.

Introduction

1.1 Background

The number of athletic participation has been increased for these decades with the increased interest in sports as not only participating competitions but also enjoying recreational activities and being healthier. According to the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) which organizes the athletic programs of colleges and universities in the United States and Canada, the total player number has increased 20% in males and 80% in females from 1988 to 2004¹¹. The similar tendency has been observed in Japan, and furthermore the annual survey of 3,000 people done by the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT) revealed that the frequency of playing sports for each person has been also increased from 1982 to 2009 (Figure 1.1). It reported that people who play sports more than once per week increased approximately 1.6 times, on the other hand, people who play only once to three times in a year decreased to about 0.7 times².

Accompanied with the increased athletic players and frequency, sports-related musculoskeletal injuries also have been increased in spite of continued evolution of the practice of sports medicine. Causes of sports injuries are divided into two major cases; contact trauma and noncontact trauma. The survey done on sports injuries during the



Figure 1.1 Rate of athletic participants who play more than once per week in Japan (1982-2009).

Extrinsic factors	Intrinsic factors
Training Errors	Malalignment
Excessive volume	Pes planus
Excessive intensity	Pes cavus
Rapid increase	Rearfoot varus
Sudden change in type	Tibia vara
Excessive fatigue	Genu valgum
Inadequate recovery	Genu varum
Faulty technique	Patella alta
Surfaces	Femoral neck anteversion
Hard	Tibia torsion
Soft	Leg length discrepancy
Cambered	Muscle imbalance
Shoes	Muscle weakness
Inappropriate	Lack of flexibility
Worn out	Generalized muscle tightness
Equipment	Focal areas of muscle thickning
Inappropriate	Restricted joint range of motion
Environmental	Sex, size, body composition
Conditions	Other
Hot	Genetic factors, endocrine factors, metabolic conditions
Cold	
Humid	
Psychological factors Inadequate nutrition	

Table 1.1 Overuse injuries; predisposing factors (Cited from Burkner et al. ⁴).

Summer Olympic Games 2008 have shown that 32.9% of the injuries were caused by contact with another athlete, while noncontact trauma and overuse were numbered in 41.9% as more frequent causes ³⁾. The causes of overuse injuries are usually divided into extrinsic factors such as training errors and environment, or intrinsic factors such as leg length discrepancy and muscle imbalance (Table 1.1) ⁴⁾. Training errors are especially common pitfalls for most coaches and athletes since they assumed that increased training, i.e., overload, is the ultimate prescription for improvement. Overload is definitely one of training principles, however it is sometimes manipulated by allowing to decrease recovery time between efforts of a given volume and intensity. Inadequate recovery, such as excessively shortened recovery time is obvious to result in overtraining, thus overuse injuries. In term, if the recovery was improved, greater training volumes would be accepted and higher level of performance would be maintained without incurring the negative aspect of overloading.

Given the above, it is clear that recovery is as important to athletes as training in order to avoid overuse injuries and optimize chronic improvements in physiological capacities since most exercise induced adaptations take place during recovery. In particular, the recovery from local muscle fatigue is a critical issue for athletic participants, since the acutely developed muscle fatigue would be the most commonly encountered thus the most troubling form of fatigue in training and competitions.

1.2 Local Muscle Fatigue

Local muscle fatigue is a daily encountered physiological phenomenon, and it often restricts people from staying active and requires temporal rest. This might be a biological defense mechanism, since it works at preventing muscles being injured by maintaining required force production ^{5, 6)}. It is, however, obvious that the occurrence of muscle fatigue adversely influences on people's performance, and there have been a great number of studies done in this field to clarify the mechanisms.

Local muscle fatigue represents a complex phenomenon that encompasses various factors; structural and energetic changes in local muscle tissues, and changes in activity level and the efficiency of the nervous system ⁷). Muscle fatigue, therefore, is also referred to as neuromuscular fatigue and is divided into three headings based upon the location of



Figure 1.2 Body sites which contribute to local muscle fatigue (Cited from Boyas et al.⁸⁾).

where the fatigue is induced; central fatigue (sites 1 to 3 in Figure 1.2), fatigue of the neuromuscular junction (site 4 in Figure 1.2), and muscle tissue fatigue (sites 5 to 9 in Figure 1.2) ^{8, 9)}. Furthermore, muscle fatigue is often conveniently divided into just two categories;

- i. Central fatigue (sites 1 to 3 in Figure 1.2), which encompasses all the supraspinal and spinal physiological phenomena resulting in a decrease in motoneuron excitation.
- ii. Peripheral fatigue (sites 4 to 9 in Figure 1.2), which indicates a decrease in the contractile strength via changes in the structure and the metabolism of muscle tissue and includes the fatigue at the neuromuscular junction $^{8, 10)}$.

When both forms of fatigue are fully treated and the fatigue eliminated then local muscle fatigue is theoretically fully healed. However, the reality is that the most common techniques for recovery, such as hydrotherapy or soft tissue massage, focus on peripheral fatigue as they are easier and more convenient to use as practical techniques.

1.3 Methods for Recovery from Local Muscle Fatigue

There are a number of objectives in the recovery process such as restoration of function and performance, tissue repair, restoration of muscle soreness, and psychological recovery ¹¹⁾. The methods for recovery would be different based on the objectives and which level of fatigue, i.e., central or peripheral fatigue, trainers and therapists target to treat after vigorous trainings and competitions. A number of methods are commonly used to hasten the recovery process such as cryotherapy, soft tissue massage, active recovery^{*1}, analgesics, nutrition, dehydration and psychological relaxation whereas those effects are often controversial. An establishment of adequate recovery methods is crucial for coaches and athletes, therefore it is natural that the attention of sports sciences practitioners continues to evolve and seek new methods of recovery. With this in mind, a relatively under researched recovery modality is the use of supplemental oxygen.

1.3.1 Normobaric Hyperoxia

Widely reported as a major cause of peripheral fatigue is exercise induced metabolic acidosis in the muscle tissue ^{8, 12, 13, 14)}. Metabolic acidosis resulting from exercise is particularly caused by the increase in intracellular concentrations of proton (H^+) and inorganic phosphate (Pi), which are established by the activity of anaerobic metabolic pathways and result in a decline in blood pH ^{8, 12, 13, 15)}. During the process of cellular acidosis, increased lactate production coincides to prevent pyruvate accumulation ¹⁵⁾, thus blood lactate concentration is a good indirect marker of muscle metabolic acidosis levels. A sufficient supply of oxygen enhances the activation of the mitochondria which consumes H^+ and Pi as substrates for mitochondrial respiration during recovery ^{8, 12, 14)}. Given this, oxygen supplementation is easily imagined to accelerate the improvement of such acidotic condition. Therefore, the use of supplemental oxygen would enhance metabolic acidosis recovery and thus peripheral muscle fatigue would reduce quicker than without the use of oxygen supplementation.

The use of normobaric hyperoxia environment is the one of options to increase oxygen concentration in the artery. Compared to other methods of oxygen supplementation such as utilization of the hyperbaric hyperoxia environment and inhalation of oxygen gas, the use



Figure 1.3 a) Oxygen concentration control device. b) Oxygen concentration control system (Cited from Ohkura et al. ¹⁶).

of normobaric hyperoxia environment is safer and more convenient, thus more practical for clinical situation. The oxygen control system used in this study was membrane separation using polyimide, and the oxygen concentration in the control room was maintained by an auto-regulated valve and an oxygen sensor (Figure 1.3)¹⁶⁾. The concentration of oxygen in the room was possible to manipulate between 14.5% and 35.0% in the air.

Increases in arterial oxygen content via atmospheric hyperoxia would affect not only peripheral fatigue but also central fatigue ^{17, 18)}. This is because that the increased oxygen concentration in the artery influences on oxygen transport throughout the organism ^{19, 20)}, therefore, changes in performance under the hyperoxic environment may occur due to the central fatigue mechanisms which dictate the increases and decreases of volitional motor output into the muscle tissue. Tucker et al. ¹⁸⁾ found that the integrated electromyographic (iEMG) activity, an indirect measure of local muscle activation, was greater during 20 km



Figure 1.4 The model of teleoanticipation^{*2} (Modified from Lambert et al. ²²). (i): There is a subconscious setting of exercise intensity based on the previous experience. (ii): Afferent feedback from peripheral organ system is then interpreted by the central nervous system against expected outcomes. (iii): Based on the interpretation, the exercise intensity and teleoanticipatory set points are reset.

cycling time-trials in hyperoxia (40% O_2) than in normoxia, concluding that improved performance in hyperoxia is partly due to a centrally mediated increase of the local muscle activation. Further, Peltonen et al. ²¹⁾ and Amann et al. ¹⁷⁾ found that central motor output represented by iEMG was reduced in hypoxia (15.8% O_2 and 15% O_2 , respectively), and hypothesized that performance capacity was controlled by central neural drive as a result of the brain responding to changes in peripheral muscle tissue conditions such as metabolite accumulation. This mechanism is also supported by other researchers who suggest the model of teleoanticipation^{*2} as a control system for optimization of performance during physical activity (Figure 1.4)²²⁾.

1.4 Local Muscle Fatigue and Psychological Task

As mentioned in the section 1.2, local muscle fatigue is divided into central and peripheral fatigue based on the sites where the fatigue is induced. Central fatigue is a mechanism in the central nervous system which blocks off the motor unit before the muscle is impaired ⁵⁾ by declining impulses of motor neuron pool, and this is thought to be also governed by a psychological statement. In other words, neuromuscular fatigue is influenced by not only the physical workload, but also psychological factors such as motivation, mental concentration and alertness. From the above, it is easily imagined that those factors are affected by psychological tasks like a series of successive numerical calculations, and such a task would influence the level of local muscle fatigue as a result of central fatigue.

One of the objectives of recovery from fatigue is psychological recovery. If there is insufficient recovery of the nervous system, athletes remain sympathetically aroused ¹¹⁾. Sympathetic over-arousal delays absorption of nutrients from the gastrointestinal tract as well as elevating the metabolic rate. Needless to say, prolonged these conditions lead to more serious physical and psychological symptoms. Given the above, it is clear that understanding the relationship between local muscle fatigue and psychological factors is important in attempting to make athletes fully recovered.

1.5 Assessment of Local Muscle Fatigue and Recovery Rate

1.5.1 Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction

and Endurance Time to Exhaustion

The term, 'local muscle fatigue', was first introduced by Chaffin ²³⁾, and thereafter many researchers have defined it, such as "failure to maintain the required or expected force" ²⁴⁾ and "any exercise-induced reduction in the maximum capacity to generate force or power output" ²⁵⁾. Simply these situations indicate the onset that an individual is unable to perform certain work, such as maintaining a defined level of static muscle contraction (isometric contraction). To observe this state, measuring the maximum voluntary contraction (MVC) before and after work is a general procedure and 'gold standard' ²⁵⁾. Additionally, the endurance time until the task fails is also the simplest indication to measure fatigue level.

1.5.2 Surface Electromyography

Another way to determine local muscle fatigue is the use of electromyography (EMG) that enables the observation of the physiological changes in a fatiguing muscle. It is well known that increased EMG amplitude, i.e., increased integrated EMG (iEMG), is recognized, and EMG power spectrum shifts from high to low frequency band with time and as fatigue occurs ²⁶⁾. The median frequency (MF) of EMG power spectrum is generally used to measure the immediate onset of muscle fatigue (Figure 1.5). There are a number of studies using various fatigue indexes, for example, increased brain activity with functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) ²⁷⁾, and biochemical changes detected by muscle biopsies ²⁸⁾. Nevertheless, those techniques are unlikely to monitor the state of fatigue in real-time and real daily living situations. Hence, EMG data i.e., both iEMG and MF are good direct markers to measure muscle fatigue.



Figure 1.5 An Example of EMG power spectrum shifts from high to low frequency band during isometric contraction. The sampling data was divided into 10 equal epochs to normalize the length of data, i.e., 10 to 100%.

1.5.3 Near-infrared Spectroscopy

Recent developments in optical instrumentation using near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) have made it possible to monitor changes in tissue oxygenation noninvasively. The device used in this study was NIRO-200 (Hamamatsu Photonics, Hamamatsu, Japan; Figure 1.6). This technique has been used to evaluate the balance between oxygen delivery and its use,



Figure 1.6 Near-infrared spectroscopy; NIRO-200 (Hamamatsu Photonics).

thus blood circulation, in the skeletal muscle of human by showing the changes in oxy-hemoglobin (Oxy-Hb) and deoxy-hemoglobin (Deoxy-Hb) in the tissue. Total tissue hemoglobin (THb) is calculated by adding Oxy-Hb and Deoxy-Hb. Changes in Oxy-Hb

and Deoxy-Hb are measured according to the Beer-Lambert law ^{29, 30)}. While NIRS does not reflect the condition of muscle tissue fatigue directly, it was used in this study as an indirect parameter by expressing the state of muscle tissue oxygenation and blood circulation which are related with muscle metabolic acidosis and muscle tissue fatigue.

1.5.4 Blood Lactate Concentration

The development of metabolic acidosis in the muscle tissue during intense exercise has traditionally been explained due to the accumulation of lactic acid resulting in a decrease in

cellular pH. However, the main cause of acidosis has been recently revealed to be the increased proton (H⁺) release into the cytosol rather than the increased lactate concentration in the tissue and blood $^{10, 12, 13)}$. When exercise intensity is steady and moderate, mitochondrial metabolism which consumes protons and electrons mainly functions to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Figure 1.7a). On the other hand, when the rate of ATP demand and consumption exceeds the mitochondrial capacity during non-steady intense exercise. lactate production aids to buffer the rate of proton release (Figure



Figure 1.7 Diagrams of metabolism under two different exercise intensities (Cited from Robergs et al. ¹⁵⁾). The magnitude of the arrows represents proportions of substrate flux. a) moderate intensity steady-state exercise. b) short-term intense exercise causing volitional fatigue in two to three minutes.



Figure 1.8 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) reaction (Cited from Robergs et al. ¹⁵). A proton is consumed to reduce pyruvate and produce lactate.

1.7b and 1.8). Eventually, the metabolic proton buffering is exceeded by the rate of ATP hydrolysis in the cell and it results in proton accumulation leading to a decrease in the cellular pH. From the above, although lactate is not the direct cause of metabolic acidosis,

blood lactate concentration would be still a good indirect marker for conditions of muscle metabolic acidosis since the increased lactate production coincides to prevent pyruvate accumulation during the process of cellular acidosis.

The instrument for evaluation of blood lactate used in this study was a portable blood lactate analyzer; Lactate Pro (LT-1710^(R) Arkray KDK, Kyoto, Japan; Figure 1.9). This analyzer was demonstrated to have a good reliability and accuracy when compared to another laboratory-based analyzer ³¹⁻³³⁾.



Figure 1.9 Portable blood lactate analyzer; Lactate Pro (LT-1710^(R) Arkray KDK)

1.5.5 Perceived Exertion

To quantify perceptions of physical workload and the recovery rate in the targeted muscle, ratings of perceived exertion were collected using visual analog scale (VAS). Subject was asked to mark on a line of 10 cm length to express the locally perceived muscle fatigue (Figure 1.10). The use of VAS is simple and easy to understand for subject,

thus practically convenient in evaluating perceived exertion. In addition, since every time the marking was required a new paper was provided, subject was unlikely to be biased by previous rates differently from confirming the rates orally. The way of rating VAS was explained to subject as Table 1.2 in order to have a common understanding.



Figure 1.10 Visual analog scale (VAS).

Table 1.2	Common	understanding	in	rating	VAS
		0		<u> </u>	

Rating of VAS			
0	no fatigue		
2~3	a little bit of fatigue		
5~6	fatigue which needs to be treated		
	e.g.) massage, streching, cryotherpy, etc		
10	maximum fatigue which is ever perceived		

1.6 Experimental Approach

In order to clarify the effects of normobaric hyperoxia on local muscle fatigue, Chapter 2 and 3 are going to present studies focusing on the recovery effects. Chapter 2 considers the peripheral factor in muscle fatigue, i.e., conditions of muscle tissue metabolism, by attempting to reveal the relationships between MVIC, endurance time, MF and tissue blood circulation. In Chapter 3, while it will continue to observe the recovery effects of normobaric hyperoxia, it goes into more detailed mechanism by dividing it into central and peripheral factors using various evaluation indexes (Table 1.3).

The influences of psychological element on local muscle fatigue are presented in Chapter 4. It discusses and hypothesizes the involvement of attentional resources of the prefrontal cortex, i.e., central factors, consumed during both psychological and physical workloads.

In closing, Chapter 5 concludes the overall presentation in this thesis, and it also brings several applications to athletes and coaches working in clinical situation.

Chapter	Purpose	Intervention	Evaluation of Fatigue and/or Recovery
2	To identify the 30 minute recovery effects of exposure to normobaric hyperoxia on local muscle fatigue as induced by single isometric exercise.	30 minute rest in the normobaric hyperoxia environment	 MVIC; Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction Endurance time to exhaustion Median Frequency (MF) of sEMG power spectrum Tissue oxygenation/ blood circulation (using NIRS; Near-Infrared Spectroscopy)
3	To identify the repeated 15 minute recovery effects of exposure to normobaric hyperoxia on local muscle fatigue as induced by intermittent isometric exercise.	2 x 15 minute rests in the normobaric hyperoxia environment	 MVIC; Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction Endurance time to exhaustion Integrated EMG (iEMG) Blood lactate concentration Perceived exertion (using VAS; Visual Analog Scale)
4	To identify if local muscle fatigue is influenced by a prior psychological task.	20 minute psychological task (numerical calculation)	 MVIC; Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction Endurance time to exhaustion Median Frequency (MF) of sEMG power spectrum

Table 1.3 Summery of purposes and evaluation indexes in each Chapter.

References

1) Hootman JM, Dick R, Agel J. Epidemiology of collegiate injuries for 15 sports: summary and recommendations for injury prevention initiatives. *J Athl Train* 42: 311–319, 2007.

2) Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology. [Opinion Research of Physical Fitness and Sports][†]. [Online] August 2013. Available from: http://www.mext.go.jp/ component/b _menu/other/__ icsFiles/ afieldfile/2013/08/23/1338731_1.pdf. [Accessed: 6th Sep 2013] (JPN). <u>†</u>; the [title] was available only in Japanese, thus it was translated by the author.

3) Junge A, Engebretsen L, Mountjoy ML, Alonso JM, Renström PA, Aubry MJ, Dvorak J. Sports injuries during the Summer Olympic Games 2008. *Am J Sports Med* 37: 2165-2172, 2009.

Brukner P, Khan K. In: *Clinical Sports Medicine*. P.
 Brukner and K. Khan eds. North Ryde: McGraw-Hill
 Australia Pty Ltd., 2007, pp.8-26.

5) Dedering A, Németh G, Harms-Ringdahl K. Correlation between electromyographic spectral changes and subjective assessment of lumbar muscle fatigue in subjects without pain from the lower back. *Clin Biomech* 14: 103-111, 1999.

6) Basmajian JV. In: *Muscles Alive, Their Functional Revealed by Electromyography.* 4th edition. JV.
Basmajian ed. Baltimore: The Williams & Wilkins
Company, 1979, pp79-114.

Cifrek M, Medved V, Tonković S, Ostojić, S. Surface
 EMG based muscle fatigue evaluation in biomechanics.
 Clin Biomech 24: 327-340, 2009.

8) Boyas S, Guével A. Neuromuscular fatigue in healthy muscle: underlying factors and adaptation mechanisms. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med* 54: 88-108, 2011.

9) Merletti R, Rainoldi A, Farina D. In: *Electromyography* – *Physiology, Engineering, and Noninvasive Applications.*1st edition. R. Merletti and P. Parker eds. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc., 2004, pp.233-258.

10) Gandevia SC. Spinal and supraspinal factors in human muscle fatigue. *Physiol Rev* 81: 1725-1789, 2001.

Brukner P, Khan K. In: *Clinical Sports Medicine*. P.
 Brukner and K. Khan, eds. North Ryde: McGraw-Hill
 Australia Pty Ltd., 2007, pp. 102-107.

12) Bangsbo J, Gollnick PD, Graham TE, Juel C, Kiens B,
Mizuno M, Saltin, B. Anaerobic energy production and
O₂ deficit-debt relationship during exhaustive exercise in
humans. *J Physiol* 422: 539-559, 1990.

13) Juel C, Klarskov C, Nielsen JJ, Krustrup P, Mohr M,
Bangsbo J. Effect of high intensity intermittent training
on lactate and H⁺ release from human skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 286: 245-251, 2004.

14) Stellingwerff T, Glazier L, Watt MJ, LeBlanc PJ, Heigenhauser GJF, Spriet LL. Effects of hyperoxia on skeletal muscle carbohydrate metabolism during transient and steady-state exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 98: 250-256, 2005.

15) Robergs RA, Ghiasvand F, Parker D. Biochemistry of exercise-induced metabolic acidosis. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 287: 502-516, 2004.

16) Ohkura M, Tsujita J, Yoshida R, Yamamoto I, Fujiwara T, Nakaya H, Furuya M. A trial production of atomospheric-pressure hyperoxia controlled room and application to therapeutic exercise. *J Jpn Acad Health Sci* 9: 96-101, 2006.

17) Amann M, Eldridge MW, Lovering AT, Stickland MK, Pegelow DF. Arterial oxygenation influences central motor output and exercise performance via effects on peripheral locomotor muscle fatigue in humans. *J Physiol* 575: 937-952, 2006.

18) Tucker R, Kayser B, Rae E, Rauch L, Bosch A, Noakes T. Hyperoxia improves 20 km cycling time trial performance by increasing muscle activation levels while perceived exertion stays the same. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 101: 771-781, 2007.

19) Keramidas ME, Kounalakis SN, Geladas ND, Eiken O, Mekjavic IB. Heterogeneous sensitivity of cerebral and muscle tissue to acute normobaric hyperoxia at rest. *Microvasc Res* 84: 205-210, 2012.

20) Rasmussen P, Overgaard A, Bjerre AF, Bjarrum M, Carlsson C, Petersen N, Nielsen HB, Volianitis S, Gjedde A, Secher NH. The effects of normoxia, hypoxia, and hyperoxia on cerebral hemoglobin saturation using near infrared spectroscopy during maximum exercise. *Int J Ind Ergonom* 40: 190-196, 2010.

21) Peltonen JE, Rusko HK, Rantamäki J, Sweins K, Niittymäki S, Viitasalo, JT. Effects of oxygen fraction in inspired air on force production and electromyogram activity during ergometer rowing. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 76: 495-503, 1997.

22) Lambert EV, Gibson ASC, Noakes TD. Complex systems model of fatigue: integrative homoeostatic control of peripheral physiological systems during exercise in humans. *Br J Sports Med* 39: 52-62, 2005.

23) Chaffin DB. Localized Muscle Fatigue – Definition and Measurement. *J Occup Med* 15: 346-354, 1973.

24) Edwards RHT. In *Human Muscle Fatigue: Physiological Mechanisms*. R. Porter and J. Whelan eds. London, Pitman Medical Ltd., 1981, pp1-18.

25) Vøllestad NK. Measurement of human muscle fatigue. *J Neurosci Methods* 74: 219-227, 1997.

26) Terasawa K, Fujiwara T, Yanagisawa K, Sakai A, Ueda G. EMG analysis of muscle fatigue during isometric contraction of the indicis proprius. *Jpn J Phys Fitness Sports* Med 41: 108-116, 1992 (JPN).

27) Benwell NM, Mastaglia FL, Thickbroom GW. Changes in the functional MR signal in motor and non-motor areas during intermittent fatiguing hand exercise. *Exp Brain Res* 182: 93-97, 2007.

28) Roberts AD, Billeter R, Howald H. Anaerobic muscle enzyme changes after interval training. *Int J Sports Med*3: 18-21, 1982.

29) Kubo K, Ikebukuro T: Acute and chronic effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on blood circulation of human muscle and tendon in vivo. *J Strength Cond Res*, 2012, 26: 2765-2770.

30) McCully KK, Smith S, Rajaei S, Leigh JS, Natelson BH. Blood flow and muscle metabolism in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Clin Sci*, 2003, 104: 641-647.

31) McNaughton LR, Thompson D, Phillips G, Backx K, Crickmore L. A comparison of the Lactate Pro, Accusport, Analox GM7 and Kodak Ektachem lactate analysers in normal, hot and humid conditions. *Int J Sports Med* 23: 130-135, 2002. 32) Pyne DB, Boston T, Martin DT, Logan A. Evaluation of the Lactate Pro blood lactate analyser. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 82: 112-116, 2000.

33) Tanner RK, Fuller KL, Ross ML. Evaluation of three portable blood lactate analysers: Lactate Pro, Lactate Scout and Lactate Plus. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 109: 551-559, 2010.

Terminology

- *¹ active recovery; is one of warm-down strategies and is done by actively exercising after training or competition. This has been recognized to remove lactate from the circulation more quickly than passive recovery. This kind of strategies appears particularly important if the next bout of activity is within 2 to 4 hours.
- *² teleoanticipation; is an integrated system in the body that afferent input of metabolic activity in the muscle tissue influences and modifies the muscle output by interpreting the afferent sensations against expected outcomes in the brain. This is specific for exercise and associates programming of power output.

Chapter 2.

Recovery Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia

~ Peripheral Factor in Local Muscle Fatigue~

2.1 Background

The use of exposure to hyperoxia is an ongoing research modality in the sports field, and the effects that have been reported were considerably conflicted and complicated. When trialed in well trained populations, breathing of hyperoxic gas (99.5% O₂ for 20 minutes in total) during recovery sessions after an intermittent intense exercise was shown that the participant's perceptions of recovery had a significantly better result than the control group ¹⁾, though other uses of hyperoxic gas during recovery period between interval repetitions (40% O₂ for 29 minutes in total, and 99.5% O₂ for 10 minutes in total) were presented to have no effect on the rate of perceived exertion (RPE) ^{2, 3)}. Furthermore, pre-exposure to hyperbaric hyperoxia (HBO, 100% O₂ at 2.8 ATA for 60 minutes) increased maximum oxygen consumption during treadmill running ⁴⁾, however, another exposure to HBO (100% O₂ at 2.0 ATA for 60 minutes) did not enhance VO₂max during the following cycle ergometer exercise ⁵⁾.

From the above, it remains unclear what effect supplemental oxygen would have on activities and fatiguing conditions. Additionally, studies reported to date rarely considered the use of exposure to normobaric hyperoxia in the recovery phase between anaerobic exercises, and how such a recovery protocol might affect acutely developing local muscle fatigue.

This study aims to identify the recovery effects of exposure to normobaric hyperoxia on local muscle fatigue affecting the quadriceps femoris^{*1}, and the degree of fatigue was measured by the following parameters; maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC), endurance time, surface electromyography (sEMG) power spectrum signals, and the status of blood circulation monitored by near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS). It was hypothesized that the use of normobaric hyperoxia would result in an enhanced recovery from local muscle fatigue as a result of improvement of metabolic acidosis in the muscle tissue.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Subjects

11 healthy males having a mean age of 20 years (range: 18-21 years) with no self-reported cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, or musculoskeletal disorders, volunteered to participate in this study. Body height and mass (mean \pm *SD*) were 170.1 \pm 5.4 cm and 63.2 \pm 12.2 kg, respectively. None of them are competitive athletes, but all are physically active. In order to familiarize subjects with the protocol, all experienced it once before the study session. They were instructed to avoid alcohol consumption and vigorous exercise which might cause delayed onset muscle soreness for at least 24 hours in advance of the experiment. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the initiation of the study, and the protocol was approved from the Koriyama Tohto Academy Educational Foundation Ethical Committee (approval number: R1107).

2.2.2 Procedures

Experimental Design. During the experimental sessions, all participants performed two protocols including 30 minutes seated recovery under normobaric normoxia (NOX; 20.9% O_2), and normobaric hyperoxia (HOX; 30.0% O_2) in a room, where the concentration of oxygen is controlled, between fatiguing physical tasks (Figure 2.1). Upon arrival to the experimental room, subjects were required to complete a 5 minute warm-up for the right quadriceps femoris followed by a 20 minute rest set as a stabilization period. The subsequent physical task was designed to fatigue quadriceps femoris of the right leg by sustaining isometric load set at 70% of MVIC for each trial (Figure 2.2). Participants were asked to maintain this load for as long as they could, and this was set for them to reach exhaustion at between 0.5 to 2.5 minutes. At the conclusion of the physical task, a 30 minute recovery period was provided before the start of a second identical physical task. In order to avoid carryover effects from each session, subjects performed these protocols on two separate occasions at least 5 days apart.



Figure 2.1 Study protocol performed by subjects randomly participating two recovery sessions on each separate day; NOX and HOX between physical task-1 and -2. Abbreviations: NOX = normobaric normoxia; HOX = normobaric hyperoxia; WA = warming-up; MVIC = maximum voluntary isometric contraction; REC-MVIC = MVIC after recovery session; PT = physical task; D = duration; sEMG = surface electromyography; MF = median frequency; NIRS = near-infrared spectroscopy.



Figure 2.2 Experimental set-up for MVIC and physical task. Subjects used visual feedback while maintaining 70% MVIC by monitoring the digital dynamometer. Abbreviations: MVIC = maximum voluntary isometric contraction; sEMG = surface electromyography.

Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction. During each protocol, the MVIC was measured four times:

MVIC-1 = pre-MVIC of the first physical task.

MVIC-2 = post-MVIC of the first physical task.

REC-MVIC-1 = pre-MVIC of the second physical task done immediately after the recovery period, and

REC-MVIC-2 = post-MVIC of the second physical task (Figure 2.1).

All subjects were seated on a device (T.K.K. 5710m, Takei, Japan) set with a digital dynamometer (F340, Unipuls, Japan) which was used to measure the MVIC and test their muscle response to the endurance task (Figure 2.2). The subjects positioned their trunk and pelvis, which were secured up-right by a pelvic belt, and both hands gripped hand grips on either side. The starting position was with the right knee maintained at approximately 45° flexion against an unmovable leg bar. In this position, their MVIC of the knee extensors was performed for three seconds three times, and the highest value of the three measurements was recorded as the MVIC.

Endurance Time. The muscle contraction time during the first and second physical tasks was recorded as D-1 and D-2, respectively, as one of assessment of the local muscle fatigue ⁶⁾.

Surface Electromyography Power Spectrum Signals. The sEMG signals from the rectus femoris (RF) of the right quadriceps femoris were recorded using a surface electrode bipolar configuration (special order product, Emu'ii Corporation, Matsumoto, Japan) with an inter-electrode distance of 30 mm (Figure 2.2). The electrodes were aligned parallel to the fibers on the middle portion of the muscle and the earth electrode was attached to the medial aspect of the right patella. To reduce the inter-electrode skin impedance to below 5 $k\Omega$, the surface of the skin was wiped with alcohol swabs, and rubbed with an abrasive gel (SkinPure^(R) Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). The sEMG data were sampled at 1024 Hz, and digitally filtered by a 15-500 Hz bandpass filter using BIMUTAS software (Nihon Kissei Comtech, Matsumoto, Japan). The sampling data were then divided into 10 equal epochs (named sample number 1 to 10) to normalize the length of data for group comparison. For frequency analysis, fast Fourier transforms (FFT) of the first 1 second of each epoch's signals were performed and the power spectrum of each epoch was derived. sEMG analysis has been used in the manner to measure the degree of local muscle fatigue during isometric exertions ⁷⁾. The Median frequency (MF), which is known to be less affected by noise and more appropriate for assessing muscle fatigue, was then calculated for each sample. Each MF of sample number 2-10 was, then, normalized to the value of sample number 1 to quantify the degree of muscle fatigue over time, which is shown by a reduction in the median frequency. These signals were collected during the first and second physical tasks as MF-1 and MF-2, respectively.

Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. The status of blood circulation in the right RF muscle was monitored using NIRS (model NIRO-200, Hamamatsu Photonics, Hamamatsu, Japan). NIRS data were recorded during the 30 minute seated recovery time. The separation distance between the light source and photodetector was 40 mm, and the probe was positioned over the RF muscle just below the sEMG electrode, parallel to the major axis of the thigh. Light photons pass through the tissue and are collected by the detectors with optical filters set at 775, 810, and 850 nm, in order to estimate changes of oxygen concentration (oxy-hemoglobin [Oxy-Hb], deoxy-hemoglobin [Deoxy-Hb], and total hemoglobin [THb]) from the baseline at the start. These changes are calculated according to the Beer-Lambert law ^{8, 9)}. All values were continuously recorded at 0.2 Hz during the 30 minutes of recovery, and the mean values of each minute were analyzed.

2.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm *SEM*. Two-way (recovery environment, i.e. [NOX] or [HOX] × time) analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used to analyze the data for MVIC, MF, Oxy-Hb, Deoxy-Hb, and THb. When significant differences were detected by two-way ANOVA, one-way ANOVA with repeated measures and the paired *t*-test was additionally performed to detect significant changes from the start, and any significant differences between NOX and HOX, respectively. Significant differences among mean values at *p* < 0.05 were then detected by Tukey's post-hoc test following two-way ANOVA, and Dunnett's post-hoc test following one-way ANOVA. The paired *t*-test was also used to analyze the data for the endurance time. SPSS for Windows version 21.0 was used, and the statistical significance was accepted for values of *p* < 0.05 in all analysis.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction

The effect of exposure to HOX on the recovery of MVIC is depicted in Figure 2.3. Values of MVIC were normalized to MVIC-1 to quantify the fatigability and recovery rates. Significant decreases (p < 0.05) at MVIC-2 and REC-MVIC-2 were shown within groups of both HOX (100% at MVIC-1 to 86.8 ± 3.5% at MVIC-2, and 99.8 ± 3.4% at REC-MVIC-1 to 86.7 ± 4.3% at REC-MVIC-2) and NOX (100% at MVIC-1 to 84.6 ± 3.4% at MVIC-2, and 89.7 ± 2.9% at REC-MVIC-1 to 78.2 ± 4.1% at REC-MVIC-2). At REC-MVIC-1, the MVIC was measured immediately after the recovery period. There was a significant difference (p < 0.05) at REC-MVIC-1 between HOX and NOX, and it can be seen that the MVIC of HOX had fully recovered (99.8 ± 3.4%), although that of NOX had a lower recovery rate (89.7 ± 2.9%) compared to the rate of MVIC-2.



Figure 2.3 Normalized mean values (\pm *SEM*) of maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) in NOX (closed diamond) and HOX (opened square) before (M-1 and M-2) and after (REC-1 and REC-2) 30 minutes recovery time. Abbreviations: M = MVIC; REC = REC-MVIC; MVIC after the recovery time. *Significant differences (*p < 0.05).

2.3.2 Endurance Time

The sustained time of muscle contraction at 70% of individuals' MVIC did not differ between either D-1 and D-2, or HOX and NOX. The times were 74.2 ± 7.2 sec at D-1 and 70.7 ± 9.1 sec at D-2 in HOX, and 75.6 ± 9.0 sec at D-1 and 74.0 ± 9.2 sec at D-2 in NOX.

2.3.3 Surface Electromyography Power Spectrum Signals

MFs during the first and second physical tasks were presented in Figure 2.4. All of MF had significant reductions in median frequency (p < 0.05) towards the end of physical task (MF-1 in HOX; 70.9 ± 3.6 Hz to 57.6 ± 3.9 Hz, MF-2 in HOX; 70.9 ± 3.3 Hz to 61.4 ± 4.1 Hz, MF-1 in NOX; 70.6 ± 3.9 Hz to 57.4 ± 4.1 Hz, MF-2 in NOX; 70.7 ± 3.5 Hz to 60.1 ± 3.9 Hz), however, there was no significant difference between either MF-1 and MF-2, or HOX and NOX.



Figure 2.4 Time course changes in mean values (\pm *SEM*) of median frequency (MF) in NOX (MF-1: closed circle, MF-2: closed diamond) and HOX (MF-1: opened triangle, MF-2: opened square) before (MF-1) and after (MF-2) 30 minute recovery time. The length of individual's data was normalized by dividing it into 10 equal epochs shown as sampling numbers (time) for the group comparison.

2.3.4 Near-Infrared Spectroscopy

The changes in Oxy-Hb, Deoxy-Hb, and THb of the RF muscle during the 30 minutes of recovery time under the HOX and NOX conditions are expressed in Figure 2.5. Oxy-Hb and THb showed significant increases (6.04 ± 3.7 a.u. to 50.5 ± 12.4 a.u., and 7.74 ± 3.8 a.u. to 58.1 ± 12.5 a.u., respectively, p < 0.05) with time only under the HOX condition, and the differences between HOX and NOX became greater (p < 0.01) towards the end of the recovery period. For Deoxy-Hb, no significant changes were observed throughout the period under both the HOX and NOX conditions. From the above, it can be seen that only Oxy-Hb and THb under the HOX increased significantly, though all NOX data showed steady values.

2.4 Discussion

There are three main findings revealed in this study:

- i. 30 minute exposure to normobaric hyperoxia (HOX) provided between anaerobic exercises as a recovery period hastened the restoration of MVIC in locally fatigued quadriceps femoris significantly.
- ii. The 30 minutes of recovery under the HOX condition also enhanced the blood circulation in the muscle tissue more than staying in a normoxic (NOX) environment for the same time frame.
- iii. On the other hand, the time to exhaustion and the sEMG power spectrum, which both have been recognized as indications of the levels of fatigue ^{6, 7)}, did not show any benefits of oxygen supplementation.

During muscle contraction under anaerobic conditions, intramuscular phosphocreatine (PCr) and glycogen are well recognized as the main energy sources to generate adenosine triphosphate (ATP) $^{10, 11}$. In particular, maximum effort activities lasting for 1 to 2 minutes demand a combination of aerobic and the above anaerobic sources (Figure 2.6) $^{12, 13}$. As a result of consumption of these energy sources, a significant amount of metabolic products, such as proton (H⁺) and lactate, are accumulated, and it eventually induces a decrease in the



Figure 2.5 Time course changes in mean values (\pm *SEM*) of oxy-hemoglobin (Oxy; a), deoxy-hemoglobin (Deoxy; b), and total hemoglobin (THb; c) of NOX (closed diamond) and HOX (opened square) during 30 minutes recovery sessions. *Significant differences (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01).
pH of blood ¹⁴⁻¹⁶. This condition of oxygen debt is called exercise-induced metabolic acidosis, which is thought to be a contributing factor to local muscle fatigue in isometric anaerobic exercises. Since the physical task used in this research was set at a relatively high intensity (70% of MVIC, causing exhaustion between 0.5 to 2.5 minutes), energy generation would have been similar to maximum effort and an oxygen debt would have been induced in subjects' muscle tissues. Once sufficient oxygen is supplied to the tissues, the accumulated metabolites would start to be removed, and function and performance would be restored ^{14, 17-19}. Accordingly, the use of HOX in the present intervention would have encouraged the resolution of the oxygen debt, increasing intramuscular metabolism, which would have resulted in the acceleration of the recovery rate in MVIC (from 86.8% to 99.8%, in Figure 2.3) from local muscle fatigue.



Figure 2.6 Time course of changes in ATP generating sources during exercise (Cited from Baker et al. ¹³).

In this study, Oxy-Hb and THb measured by NIRS in RF increased during the 30 minutes of HOX recovery time, though the Deoxy-Hb value did not alter. This result implies that blood circulation, especially arterial inflow, i.e., tissue oxygenation, was augmented significantly by supplemental oxygen. This is in agreement with the results reported by Kawada et al. ¹⁸, who used exposure to hyperbaric hyperoxia (100% O_2 for 50 minutes) before high-intensity knee extensor exercises. They found an increase in oxygenation

during the exposure, which lasted at least 5 minutes after the end of hyperoxia. Furthermore, Kubo et al. ⁸⁾ showed that the pre-exercise use of hyperbaric oxygen therapy (50% O_2 for 60 minutes) increased the values of Oxy-Hb and THb in human muscle compared with the baseline level. The present study's results suggest that increased oxygen in the tissues hastened intramuscular metabolism, metabolites accumulated, and increase of blood flow occurred in response, to remove the metabolites. Additionally, the parasympathetic nervous system is activated by the use of HOX^{18, 20)}, thus the relaxation of vascular smooth muscle would have caused vasodilatory effects in both arteries and veins, resulting in the increase of blood flow. The reason venous flow did not show any changes in HOX as well as NOX might be that the subjects in this study were encouraged to be completely sedentary with no muscle pumping during the recovery phase. Venous return was, therefore, not encouraged even though oxygen was supplied. HOX-enhanced tissue oxygenation and blood circulation would also have played a part in the restoration of MVIC, and the hypothesis is supported by the past research showing that restricted blood flow brought about higher metabolites levels and impairment of muscle metabolism resulting in significant muscle force reduction 21, 22)

There are a number of investigations to date that have verified the effects of hyperoxia, however, the previous reports have demonstrated conflicting results, which are confusing for clinical practice. The conflicting evidence can be arranged by dividing into categories regarding the timing of exposure (pre-exposure, exposure during exercise, and exposure during recovery time) and the types of exercise (aerobic, anaerobic, and interval exercises) used in the experiments (Table 2.1). Recently, studies focusing on "pre-exposure" in intermittent high-intensity or anaerobic exercise have been performed, and they have indicated no effects arising from the oxygen supplementation ^{16, 18, 23)}. Moreover, the same negative results have been reported by research in which hyperoxia exposure was done "ahead" of aerobic endurance performances ^{5, 24, 25)}. These results suggest that increased blood levels of dissolved oxygen induced by hyperoxia would be released immediately under a normoxic environment, and the pre-exposure is incapable of producing favorable change in performance. A possible reason for the immediate oxygen release is that the

Table 2.1 Summary of hyperoxia effects (timing of exposure \times types of exercise). Dark gray boxes and light gray boxes indicate negative effects and mixed effects reported by authors, respectively. White boxes indicate positive effects.

	aerobic	anaerobic	Interval
pre- exposure	Webster et al. (1998) ⁵⁾ McGaverock et al. (1999) ²⁵⁾	Rozenek et al. (2007) ¹⁶⁾	Kawada et al. (2008) ¹⁸⁾ Sperlich et al. (2010) ²³⁾
during exercise	Stellingwerff et al. (2005) ¹⁹⁾ Tucker et al. (2007) ²⁶⁾	Okushima et al. (2009) ²⁸⁾	Hiraiwa et al. (2009) ²⁹⁾ Takemura et al. (2011) ²⁷⁾
recovery	not found	Fordy et al. (2012) ³⁰⁾ <u>this study</u>	Nummela et al. (2002) ²⁾ Takemura et al. (2011) ²⁷⁾

participants may be in conditions in which additional oxygen is not required, contrary to the status of oxygen debt, before activity is performed. On the other hand, exposures to hyperoxia "during" aerobic activity have been shown to have beneficial effects ^{19, 26)}. Stellingwerff et al.¹⁹⁾ observed that muscle glycogenolysis was decreased, and the accumulation of serum and muscle lactate was lower during aerobic exercise under hyperoxia (60% O₂) than under a normoxic condition. Tucker et al. ²⁶⁾ also reported that hyperoxia (40% O₂) improved endurance performance by an average of 5% during cycling time-trials and concluded that increased muscle activation, indicated by integrated electromyography activity (iEMG), resulted in the better performance. It has been proposed that the diminished lactate concentration during aerobic exercise under hyperoxia might be because of reduced glycolysis and pyruvate production, therefore increased lactate clearance ¹⁹⁾. In other words, subjects would be in conditions that require additional oxygen, and are primed to make effective use of oxygen "during" aerobic activities. With respect to utilization of hyperoxia during the "recovery period", there is only a small body of research to refer to about the effects of hyperoxia on local muscle fatigue caused by anaerobic tasks. Nummela et al.²⁾ have reported that there was no positive result with supplemental oxygen (40% O₂) during the recovery phase of intermittent exercise ($3 \times 3 \times 300$ meters of sprint)

with periodic recovery times of relatively short duration (1 to 10 minutes each). Takemura et al. ²⁷⁾ also examined the influences of hyperoxia (28% O₂) on intermittent exercise (2 × 10×5 seconds of pedaling), and they showed that serum lactate accumulation was significantly decreased after oxygen supplementation. It is hypothesized that this favorable result was due to the provision of a sufficient continuous recovery time of 50 minutes between exercises. In the present study, the type of physical task used was anaerobic instead of intermittent activity, but the overall order of protocol (0.5-2.5 minute isometric contractions with a 30 minute continuous recovery period in between) was similar to Takemura et al. ²⁷⁾. Participants who take part in this type of protocol, i.e. having more than 30 minutes rest between intensive exercises lasting for few minutes, are supposed to be in a condition of oxygen debt at the end of the physical task, so that supplemental oxygen would be used effectively to remove metabolic waste accumulation and resulted in the enhancement of the recovery rate.

2.5 Conclusions

To sum up, it appeared that the use of normobaric hyperoxia was effective as a recovery strategy in local muscle fatigue induced by anaerobic exercise. It would speed up the muscle tissue metabolism and increase tissue blood circulation, and the restoration of MVIC was significantly hastened when compared to normoxia in the same recovery time frame. It was also clear that the supplemental oxygen hastened the recovery from oxygen debt and improved muscle contractility in the recovery from muscle tissue fatigue, but it is not a modality that increases the ability of the muscle itself. Accordingly, it is understandable that hyperoxia neither prolonged the duration of muscle contraction after the exposure, nor changed the pattern of local muscle fatigue monitored by sEMG signals (Figure 2.4) in this investigation.

References

1) Peeling P, Fulton S, Sim M, White J. Recovery effects of hyperoxic gas inhalation or contrast water immersion on the postexercise cytokine response, perceptual recovery, and next day exercise performance. *J Strength Cond Res* 26: 968-975, 2012.

2) Nummela A, Hamalainen I, Rusko H. Effect of hyperoxia on metabolic responses and recovery in intermittent exercise. *Scand J Med Sci Sport* 12: 309-315, 2002.

3) Peeling P, Andersson R. Effect of hyperoxia during the rest periods of interval training on perceptual recovery and oxygen re-saturation time. *J Sports Sci* 29: 147-150, 2011.

4) Cabric M, Medved R, Denoble P, Zivkovic M, Kovacevic H. Effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on maximal aerobic performance in a normobaric environment. *J Sports Med Phys Fit* 31: 362-366, 1991.

5) Webster AL, Syrotuik DG, Bell GJ, Jones RL, Bhambhani Y, Young M. Exercise after acute hyperbaric oxygenation: is there an ergogenic effect? *Undersea Hyperbaric Med* 25: 153-159, 1998.

6) Williams C, Ratel S. In: *Human muscle fatigue*. 1st edition. C. Williams, and S. Ratel eds. Abington: Routledge, 2009, pp.3-16.

7) Terasawa K, Fujiwara T, Yanagisawa K, Sakai A, Ueda G. EMG analysis of muscle fatigue during isometric contraction of the indicis proprius. *Jpn J Phys Fitness Sports Med* 41: 108-116, 1992 (JPN).

8) Kubo K, Ikebukuro T. Acute and chronic effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on blood circulation of human muscle and tendon in vivo. *J Strength Cond Res* 26:

2765-2770, 2012.

9) McCully KK, Smith S, Rajaei S, Leight JS, NathlsonsBH. Blood flow and muscle metabolism in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Clin Sci* 104: 641-647, 2003.

10) Chasiotis D, Bergstrom M and Hultman E. ATP utilization and force during intermittent and continuous muscle contractions. *J Appl Physiol* 63: 167-174, 1987.

11) Sahlin K, Tonkonogi M, Soderlund K. Energy supply and muscle fatigue in jumans. *Acta Physiol Scand* 162: 261-266, 1998.

12) Newsholme EA, Blomstrand E, McAndrew N, Parry-Billings M. In: *Endurance in Sport*. RJ. Shepard and PO. Astrand eds. London: Blackwell Scientific Publishing, 1992. pp. 351-364.

13) Baker JS, McCormick MC, Robergs RA. *How metabolic energy system meet ATP demand during intense exercise.* [Online] Aplile 2011. Available from: http://www.gustrength.

com/physiology:energy-systems-atp-demand-during-inten se-exercise. [Accessed: 6th Sep 2013]

14) Bangsbo J, Gollnick PD, Graham TE, Juel C, Kiens B,
Mizuno M, Saltin B. Anaerobic energy production and O₂
deficit-debt relationship during exhaustive exercise in
humans. J Physiol 422: 539-559, 1990.

15) Bouhuys A, Pool J, Binkhorst RA, Leeuwen PV.Metabolic acidosis of exercise in healthy males. *J Appl Physiol* 21: 1040-1046, 1996.

16) Rozenek R, Fobel BF, Banks JC, Russo AC, Lacourse MG, Strauss MB. Does hyperbaric oxygen exposure affect high-intensity, short-duration exercise performance? *J Strength Cond Res* 21: 1037-1041, 2007.

17) Juel C, Klarskov C, Nielsen JJ, Krustrup P, Mohr M, Bangsbo J. Effect of hight intensity intermittent training on lactate and H⁺ release from human skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 286: 245-251, 2004.

18) Kawada S, Fukaya K, Ohtani M, Kobayashi K, Fukusaki C. Effects of pre-exposure to hyperbaric hyperoxia on high-intensity exercise performance. *J Strength Cond Res* 22: 66-74, 2008.

19) Stellingwerff T, Glazier L, Watt MJ, LeBlanc PJ, Heigenhauser GJF, Spriet LL. Effects of hyperoxia on skeletal muscle carbohydrate metabolism during transient and steady-state exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 98: 250-256, 2005.

20) Lund VE, Kentala E, Schenin H, Klossner J, Helenius H, Heinonen KS, Jalonen J. Heart rate variability in healthy volunteers during normobaric and hyperbaric hyperoxia. *Acta Physiol Scand* 167: 29-35, 1999.

 Basmajian JV. In: *Muscles Alive, Their Functional Revealed by Electromyography.* 4th edition. JV.
 Basmajian, ed. Baltimore: The Williams & Wilkins
 Company, 1979. pp. 79-114.

22) McCully KK, Smith S, Rajaei S, Leight JS, Nathlsons BH. Muscle metabolism with blood flow restriction in chronic fatigue syndrome. *J Appl Physiol* 96: 871-878, 2004.

23) Sperlich B, Schiffer T, Achtzehn S, Mester J, Holmberg HC. Pre-exposure to hyperoxic air does not enhance power output during subsequent sprint cycling. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 110: 301-305, 2010.

24) Hodges ANH, Delaney S, Lecomte JM, Lacroix VJ, Montgomery DL. Effect of hyperbaric oxygen on oxygen uptake and measurements in the blood and tissues in a normobaric environment. Br J Sports Med 37: 516-520, 2003.

25) McGaverock JM, LeComte JL, Delaney JS, LaCroix VJ, Hardy P, Montgomery DL. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen on aerobic performance in normobaric environment. *Undersea Hyperbaric Med* 26: 219-224, 1999.

26) Tucker R, Kayser B, Rae E, Rauch L, Bosch A, Noakes T. Hyperoxia improves 20 km cycling time trial performance by increasing muscle activation levels while perceived exertion stays the same. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 101: 771-781, 2007.

27) Takemura H, Uchimura J, Takahashi H, Suzuki S. Effect of hyperbaric hyperoxia exposure on recovery of fatigue and performance after high intensity exercise. *Bull Sendai Univ* 43: 9-18, 2011 (JPN).

28) Okushima D, Yamamoto M. Effect of normobaric hyperoxia on performance and physiological responses during high intensity exercise. *J Sports Train Sci* 10: 9-16, 2009 (JPN).

29) Hiraiwa Y, Yoshitake Y, Yamamoto M. Effect of normobaric hyperoxia on quadriceps muscle fatigability during repetitive maximal isometric contractions. *J Sports Train Sci* 10: 1-7, 2009 (JPN).

30) Fordy GR, Marshall JM. Breathing 40% O_2 can attenuate postcontraction hyperaemia or muscle fatigue caused by static forarm contraction, depending on timing. *Exp Physiol* 97: 362-374, 2012.

Terminology

*1 quadriceps femoris (Figure 2.7); is a muscle containing rectus femoris and vasti, and they

locate in front of the femur. The rectus femoris is a flexor of the hip and extensor of the knee joint. The vasti is are further divided into three heads; medialis, lateralis and intermedius. They are powerful extensors of the knee joint.



Figure 2.7 Quadriceps feromis (Vastus intermedius is not shown because it is underneath the rectus femoris).

Chapter 3.

Recovery Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia

~ Central and/or Peripheral Factors in Local Muscle Fatigue ~

3.1 Background

As showed in the Chapter 2, it is clear that 30 minutes of recovery strategy under the normobaric hyperoxia environment is effective to improve blood circulation and oxygen debt, thus to recover force output in the quadriceps femoris. Table 2.1 shows that oxygen supplementation will work when the organs are in need of oxygen such as during aerobic exercises and after anaerobic exercises. The evidence presenting the recovery effects for intensive intermittent exercises, however, is mixed and conflicted. Nummela et al. ¹⁾ applied hyperoxia during recovery sessions between intermittent exercises (40% O₂ for 29 minutes in total), and reported that there was no effect in removing the lactate accumulation. On the other hand, Takemura et al. ²⁾ who had a similar hyperoxia strategy (28% O₂ for 50 minutes) to Nummela et al. ¹⁾ showed a positive result on lactate concentration. The difference caused between them might be due to the length of recovery sessions. Nummela et al. ¹⁾ had three times of recovery time and each was no more than 10 minutes. Although Takemura et al. ²⁾ had only one recovery session, it was for 50 minutes and much longer.

Given this, it still remains unclear what effect supplemental oxygen would have on recovery from local muscle fatigue acutely developed by intermittent exercises. Based on the above reports and the results in the Chapter 2, the present study uses repeated 15 minute recovery strategies (30 minutes in total) under the hyperoxia environment. Additionally, the oxygen supplementation is thought to influence not only metabolism and tissue oxygenation but also central factors in muscle fatigue such as activation level of motoneuron which controls strength of contraction in peripheral muscles.

This study aims to identify the recovery effects of exposure to normobaric hyperoxia on local muscle fatigue in quadriceps femoris as induced by intermittent isometric exercises. We also aimed to clarify the mechanisms of recovery resulting from hyper-oxygenation of the muscle tissue, by focusing on the factors of central and peripheral fatigue. It was hypothesized that the use of normobaric hyperoxia would enhance local muscle fatigue recovery as a result of improvement in both central and peripheral factors.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Subjects

12 healthy males having a mean age of 20 years (range: 18-21 years) with no self-reported cardiovascular and respiratory disease, or musculoskeletal disorders, volunteered to participate in this study. Body height, mass and body mass index (mean \pm *SD*) were 170.1 \pm 6.2 cm, 61.7 \pm 10.6 kg, and 21.3 \pm 2.6 kg/m², respectively. None of them are competitive athletes, but all are physically active. In order to familiarize subjects with the protocol, all experienced it once before the study session. They were instructed to avoid alcohol consumption and vigorous exercise which might cause delayed onset muscle soreness for at least 24 hours in advance of the experiment. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the initiation of the study, and the protocol was approved by the Koriyama Tohto Academy Educational Foundation Ethical Committee (approval number: R1107).

3.2.2 Procedures

Experimental Design. During the experimental sessions, all participants performed 3 sets of 3 repetitions, with each repetition to last for no less than 30 seconds ($3 \times 3 \times$ best effort > 30 seconds) of isometric quadriceps femoris contraction with two recovery sessions between (Figure 3.1). The recovery strategy was a 15 minute seated rest in an oxygen controlled room ³⁾ in one of two different conditions: normobaric normoxia (NOX; 20.9% O₂), and normobaric hyperoxia (HOX; 30.0% O₂). Upon arrival to the experimental room, subjects were required to complete a 5 minute warm-up for the right quadriceps femoris followed by a 15 minute rest set as a stabilization period. The subsequent physical task was designed to fatigue the quadriceps femoris of the right leg by sustaining isometric load set at 70% of an individual's MVIC as previously measured. Participants were asked to maintain this load for as long as they could, and it was envisioned that exhaustion would be reached between 0.5 to 2.0 minutes. They repeated the physical task three times with two 30 second short breaks separating them. All subjects were able to maintain the required

70% of MVIC in the first task of each set. However, excluding the first task, four of the twelve subjects were unable to maintain the required 70% of MVIC for more than 20 seconds. Consequently, they were asked to maintain the contraction as a "best effort" for at least 30 seconds. The lowest recorded MVIC was 55% at the end of the "best effort". At the conclusion of the first set of three physical tasks, a 15 minute recovery period was provided before the start of second identical set, and again prior to the third identical set. In order to avoid carryover effects from each session, subjects performed these protocols on two separate occasions at least 5 days apart. The order of testing was randomized so that six participants performed NOX first and other six participants performed HOX first. They were blinded to the oxygen concentration levels and were not informed of the hypothesis of the experiment. Subjects were instructed to maintain their daily activity levels for the duration of their involvement in the study.



Figure 3.1 Experimental design. Subjects performed 3 sets of 3 intermittent, isometric, submaximal quadriceps contractions with two recovery sessions under different conditions: NOX and HOX. MVIC, EMG activity, blood lactate and perceived exertion were measured at T1 to T6, and endurance time to exhaustion was also measured at E1, E2 and E3. Abbreviations: NOX = normobaric normoxia (20.9% O_2); HOX = normobaric hyperoxia (30.0% O_2); MVIC = maximum voluntary isometric contraction; EMG = electromyography; T = time; E = endurance time; WA = warming-up.

Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction. During each protocol, the MVIC of the quadriceps femoris was measured six times:

- T1 = Before the first set of physical tasks.
- T2 = After the first set of physical tasks.
- T3 = Before the second set of physical tasks, measured immediately after the first recovery period.

- T4 = After the second set of physical tasks.
- T5 = Before the third set of physical tasks, measured immediately after the second recovery period, and
- T6 = Aafter the third set of physical tasks (Figure 3.1).

All subjects were seated on a device (T.K.K. 5710m, Takei, Japan) accompanied with a digital dynamometer (F340, Unipuls, Japan) set to measure their MVIC and test their muscle response to the fatiguing physical task. The subjects positioned their trunk and pelvis against the back-rest and were secured up-right by a pelvic belt. Both hands gripped hand grips by their side. The starting position was set as the right knee maintained at a 45° angle from full knee extension against an immobile leg bar. In this position, the MVIC of knee extensors, which lasted for four seconds, was performed three times, and the highest of the three values was recorded as the subject's MVIC. Subsequent MVIC values were then normalized based on the MVIC at T1 in order to see the rates of fatigue and recovery over T2 to T6.

Surface Electromyography Activity. The surface electromyography (sEMG) signals from the rectus femoris (RF) of the right quadriceps femoris were recorded using a surface electrode bipolar configuration (special order product, Emu[•]ii Corporation, Matsumoto, Japan) during the measurement of MVIC. The electrode was aligned parallel to the fibers on the middle portion of the muscle with an inter-electrode distance of 30 mm, and an earth electrode was attached on the medial aspect of the right patella. To have inter-electrode skin impedance below 5 k Ω , the surface of the skin was wiped with alcohol swabs, and rubbed with an abrasive gel (SkinPure^(R) Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). The sEMG data were sampled at 1024 Hz, and digitally filtered by 15-500 Hz bandpass filter using BIMUTAS software (Nihon Kissei Comtech, Matsumoto, Japan). For subsequent analysis of the raw sEMG signals, iEMG over the middle three seconds of four seconds obtained from the highest MVIC was calculated, and the values at T2-6 were normalized by the value at T1.

Endurance Time to Exhaustion. All subjects reached to exhaustion at between 0.5 to 2.0 minutes during the first physical tasks which were set at 70% of individual's MVIC. The muscle contracting continuances during the first physical tasks of each set were recorded as

E1, E2, and E3 (Figure 3.1), and used as one of the measurements criteria in assessing the local muscle fatigue ⁴⁾.

Blood Lactate Concentration. Blood samples were collected for lactate analysis from the tip of the finger and the lactate concentration was determined by a portable lactate analyzer (Lactate Pro LT- $1710^{(R)}$ Arkray KDK, Kyoto, Japan)⁵⁻⁷⁾. Before blood collection, the tip of finger was cleaned with an alcohol swab and a small incision was made by a lancet. The initial drop of the blood was removed, and the second drop of the blood was collected for analysis. In order to see the changes in blood lactate, measurements were repeated over T1-6.

Perceived exertion. A visual analog scale (VAS) was used as a representation of perceived exertion at T1-6. Subjects were asked to mark on a 10cm long line to express the locally perceived muscle fatigue in the right quadriceps femoris. This scale was explained to the participants during the familiarization session and prior to each protocol. The marked point was then measured manually using a ruler and the value was recorded.

3.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm *SEM*. Two-way (recovery environment, i.e., [NOX] or [HOX] × time, i.e., [T1-6] for MVIC, iEMG, lactate concentration and VAS, or [E1-3] for endurance time) analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used for all data gained in the present study. When significant differences were detected by two-way ANOVA, one-way ANOVA with repeated measures and paired *t*-test were additionally performed to detect significant changes from the start, and any significant differences between NOX and HOX, respectively. Significant differences among mean values at *p* < 0.05 were then detected by Tukey's post-hoc test following two-way ANOVA, and Dunnett's post-hoc test following one-way ANOVA. SPSS for Windows version 21.0 was used, and the statistical significance was accepted for values of *p* < 0.05 in all analysis.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction

The normalized MVIC at T1-6 was depicted in Figure 3.2. The recovery pattern differed significantly between NOX and HOX ($F_{(1,5)} = 3.194$, p < 0.05). In NOX, values at T2-6 were significantly lower than the baseline MVIC at T1 (p < 0.05). In HOX, although the MVIC at T2, T4 and T6 showed significant decreases compared to the basal value at T1 (p < 0.01), the rates at T3 and T5 recovered to 92.3 ± 3.1% and 96.6 ± 5.2%, respectively. This resulted in a significantly greater recovery rate in HOX (96.6 ± 5.2%) than in NOX (82.5 ± 3.5%), especially at T5 (p < 0.05) which was at the end of total 30 minute seated recovery period. Further, the mean value in HOX at T6 continued to be higher than in NOX (80.2 ± 4.4% and 72.5 ± 2.4%, respectively) although there was no significant difference statistically (p = 0.066).



Figure 3.2 Normalized mean values (± *SEM*) of maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) in NOX (closed diamond) and HOX (opened square) between T1 and T6. †‡Significantly different from the start within the same condition (†p < 0.05, ‡p < 0.01). *Significantly different between conditions (*p < 0.05).

3.3.2 Integrated EMG Activity

The changes in iEMG rate over time monitored during T1-6 were presented in Figure 3.3. A significant condition (NOX vs. HOX) × time (T1 to T6) interaction was found for iEMG ($F_{(1,5)} = 2.985$, p < 0.05). That is, between T1 and T4, iEMG was gradually decreased in both NOX and HOX, while greatly increased in HOX and continuously decreased in NOX afterwards. The iEMG was significantly higher in HOX compared to NOX at T6 (86.6 ± 8.0% and 80.0 ± 6.4%, respectively, p < 0.05), and the mean value at T5 was also higher in HOX than in NOX (93.0 ± 8.0% and 81.4 ± 4.5%, respectively, p = 0.164). From the above, it could be seen that the iEMG in HOX was greater after the second recovery compared to that in NOX.



Figure 3.3 Normalized average values (\pm *SEM*) of integrated EMG (iEMG) in NOX (closed diamond) and HOX (opened square) between T1 and T6. \ddagger Significantly different from the start in NOX ($\ddagger p < 0.01$). *Significantly different between conditions ($\ddagger p < 0.05$).

3.3.3 Endurance Time to Exhaustion

The sustained periods to the limit of muscle contraction at 70% MVIC did not differ either between E1, E2 and E3 or NOX and HOX. However the time during E2 and E3 tended to be shorter in both NOX and HOX. In NOX, the duration of 70% MVIC changed marginally from 54.6 ± 7.6 sec at E1 to 46.1 ± 5.2 sec at E2 and 47.1 ± 5.8 sec at E3. As in NOX, similar small changes in the endurance time were observed in HOX; 55.0 ± 7.2 sec at E1, 47.3 ± 4.6 sec at E2 and 43.2 ± 3.5 sec at E3.

3.3.4 Blood Lactate Concentration

Figure 3.4 expresses the changes in blood lactate concentrations over T1-6. In both NOX and HOX conditions, blood lactate levels significantly increased at T2 ($6.0 \pm 1.1 \text{ mmol/L}$ and $6.1 \pm 0.9 \text{mmol/L}$, respectively), T4 ($5.1 \pm 0.8 \text{ mmol/L}$ and $7.0 \pm 1.4 \text{ mmol/L}$) and T6 ($5.4 \pm 0.9 \text{ mmol/L}$ and $6.6 \pm 1.2 \text{ mmol/L}$) when compared to the baseline at T1 ($2.4 \pm 0.3 \text{ mmol/L}$ and $2.7 \pm 0.4 \text{ mmol/L}$, p < 0.05). Throughout the protocols, the patterns of change in lactate concentration did not show any significant difference between T4 and T6.



Figure 3.4 Average values (\pm *SEM*) of blood lactate concentration in NOX (closed diamond) and HOX (opened square) between T1 and T6. †Significantly different from the start within the same condition (†p < 0.05).

3.3.5 Perceived exertion

Perceived exertions expressed by VAS across T1-6 are shown in Figure 3.5. VAS increased significantly over the course of the protocols in both oxygen conditions (p < 0.05). There are no significant differences in perceived exertion between NOX and HOX. The VAS rate at T3 showed a significant increase only in NOX compared to the beginning (0.2 \pm 0.1 cm at T1 to 2.4 \pm 0.6 cm at T3, p < 0.05) but it did not occur in HOX (0.7 \pm 0.3 cm at T1 to 2.2 \pm 0.5 cm at T3). The final VAS values (T6) in NOX and HOX were 6.8 \pm 0.7 cm and 6.7 \pm 0.6 cm, respectively.



Figure 3.5 Average values (\pm *SEM*) of perceived exertions expressed by visual analog scale (VAS) in NOX (closed diamond) and HOX (opened square) between T1 and T6. \ddagger Significantly different from the start within the same condition ($\ddagger p < 0.01$).

3.4 Discussion

There are two main findings revealed in this study:

- Two 15 minutes seated recovery sessions in normobaric hyperoxia (HOX) significantly hastened the MVIC restoration in locally fatigued quadriceps (Figure 3.2).
- ii. The MVIC result mainly associated with the influence of the central motor output, since the iEMG increased after the completion of two recovery sessions in HOX but it continued to decrease in NOX (Figure 3.3).

The above results were not associated with changes in other parameters, i.e., endurance time, blood lactate concentration or perceived exertion between two oxygen conditions.

We interpret this to mean that hyperoxia influences the regulation of central motor output to the activated muscle and therefore of muscle force output. Conversely, a peripheral parameter in muscle fatigue, represented by the blood lactate accumulation, did not show a significant difference between NOX and HOX (Figure 3.4), suggesting that the levels of peripheral fatigue were similar across the conditions. Although it has been understood that hyperoxia improves the peripheral factors in fatigue, such as metabolite accumulation, our findings cannot explain the peripheral factor as only a cause of MVIC restoration. The central factor, an increased capacity for the motor unit activation, would rather be responsible for the present result. While the causes of supraspinal and spinal fatigue are poorly known⁸⁾, central factors affecting muscle fatigue have been recognized as a reduction or accumulation of certain brain neurotransmitters and substances such as serotonin ⁹⁾ and glycogen ¹⁰⁾, the limitation of cortical activity caused by muscle afferents relating to the muscle's biochemical conditions and force generation capacity ^{11, 12}, depletion in sensitivity of neuromuscular spindles¹¹, and a decrease in motoneuron activity ¹³⁾. Gandevia ¹¹⁾ summarized evidence of supraspinal factors in fatigue in a literature review, and concluded that feedback from muscle afferents on the muscle's biochemical conditions and force generation capacity is likely to diminish the activation of cortical sites. Especially, in the presence of oxygen debt and lactate accumulation, the group III and IV muscle

afferents, which are metaboreceptors and are sensitive to metabolites generated during muscle fatigue, continue to discharge and result in an inhibition of alpha motoneuron activity ^{14, 15)}. Considering the above, the brain would increase central motor output in HOX than NOX in this study by responding to the status of peripheral fatigue, i.e., lesser metabolic acidosis level in HOX. The magnitude of peripheral muscle fatigue would be a considerable dependent variable in terms of decreases and increases of centrally-mediated neural stimulation into muscles thus of force output (Figure 1.4).

The findings in the present study seem to be in agreement with those of Amann et al. ¹⁶) and Tucker et al. ¹⁷, whose subjects performed cycling time-trials under a hyperoxic environment (40% O_2 and 100% O_2 , respectively). They found shortenings of time to completing the time-trials, and parallel increases in power output and central motor output confirmed by the results of iEMG. These studies used aerobic endurance cycling exercise and the average force outputs were approximately 25 to 35% of MVC and 30 to 40% of MVC, respectively. This type of exercise consumes energy from the aerobic metabolic pathways ⁶. In contrast, the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) supplied during the trials of intermittent intense anaerobic exercise (70% MVIC) in our study would be generated by nonmitochondrial sources, thus it would increase proton (H⁺) release more than the former studies (Figure 1.7) ^{8, 18, 19}. This causes greater metabolic acidosis in muscle tissues, i.e., oxygen debt, which is more sensitive to the oxygen supplementation.

As a result of consuming the nonmitochondria sources during anaerobic exercises, a significant amount of metabolic products such as proton (H^+) and inorganic phosphate (Pi) are accumulated, and they induce a decrease in the pH of blood ¹⁸⁻²⁰⁾. This has been well documented as a major cause of peripheral fatigue, leading to a decrease in the contractile strength of muscles. Similarly, fatigue at the neuromuscular junction such as insufficient propagation of the action potentials and neurotransmitter depletion ²¹⁾, reductions in the quantity of calcium ion (Ca²⁺) released by the sarcoplasmic reticulum ²²⁾, and decreases in blood flow ^{23, 24)} are also reported as peripheral factors in muscle fatigue. Additionally, the concentration of lactate has been understood as a good marker for tissue metabolic conditions although it might not be directly attributed to metabolic acidosis in muscle

tissues ^{19, 20)}. The lactate accumulation levels, however, did not show a significant difference between NOX and HOX in our study, and the mean values even showed to be higher in HOX than in NOX between T4 and T6 (Figure 3.4). There are two reasons that can explain this. Firstly, since lactate is not a dead-end waste product of glycolysis but is rather an important intermediate metabolite under the anaerobic metabolism pathway ^{19, 20, 25)}, the values of blood lactate concentrations might not express the exact instantaneous changes in metabolism processes. Secondly, as the result of higher central neural drive and therefore of greater force output in HOX via feedback mechanism from the muscle afferents, it is not unexpected that more lactate was produced in HOX than in NOX. Hence, it seems reasonable to suggest that the threshold of maximum peripheral fatigue was increased in HOX and a greater force output, i.e., recovery in MVIC, could be achieved without harmful metabolic acidosis occurring.

There are a number of investigations to date that have verified the effects of hyperoxia on blood lactate accumulation as a recovery strategy, however, the previous reports have demonstrated conflicting results ^{1, 2, 26-28}. One of the reasons for this confliction might be due to the difference in the type of exercise used in the experiments. When the exercise was performed at the fixed work load, lactate concentrations were reported to be lower in the hyperoxic environment ^{2, 27)}, whereas, when the exercise was done maximally or self-paced, there were no differences in lactate levels between normoxia and hyperoxia ²⁶⁾. Although those authors did not discuss the central factors in fatigue, there might be some elements in central neural activation leading to those results as with the present study.

Perceived exertion represented by VAS in our study showed identical changes throughout the trials in both conditions (Figure 3.5). Ratings of perceived exertion have been shown to be strong indicators of physical fatigue and not to be influenced by central factors in fatigue ^{29, 30)}. Therefore, it would be reasonable to recognize the scale as a reflection of peripheral fatigue rather than central fatigue. Based on this, which is similar to the result of blood lactate concentrations, our findings on VAS would express that levels of peripheral fatigue were similar in NOX and HOX, although the force output was significantly recovered mainly by increasing the central motor output in HOX.

3.5 Conclusions

To sum up, it appeared that the use of two sets of 15 minute seated recovery under normobaric hyperoxia was effective in the MVIC restoration from local muscle fatigue induced by intermittent intense exercises. The characteristic parallel increases of force output and iEMG activity suggest that the effective recovery under the hyperoxic environment was due to a combination of peripheral effects and an enhanced capacity to activate neural drive. From this, it was revealed that the recovery rate is regulated by a complex mechanisms relating to both peripheral and central elements which are sensitive to the oxygen concentration in the air.

References

1) Nummela A, Hämäläinen I, Rusko H. Effect of hyperoxia on metabolic responses and recovery in intermittent exercise. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* 12: 309-315, 2002.

2) Takemura H, Uchimura J, Takahashi H, Suzuki S. Effect of hyperbaric hyperoxia exposure on recovery of fatigue and performance after high intensity exercise. *Bull Sendai Univ* 43: 9-18, 2011 (JPN).

3) Ohkura M, Tsujita J, Yoshida R, Yamamoto I, Fujiwara T, Nakaya H, Furuya M. A trial production of atmospheric-pressure hyperoxia controlled room and application to therapeutic exercise. *J Jpn Health Sci* 9: 96-101, 2006.

4) Williams C, Ratel S. In: *Human muscle fatigue*. 1st edition. C. Williams and S. Ratel eds. Abington: Routledge, 2009. pp.3-16.

5) McNaughton LR, Thompson D, Phillips G, Backx K, Crickmore L. A comparison of the Lactate Pro, Accusport, Analox GM7 and Kodak Ektachem lactate analysers in normal, hot and humid conditions. *Int J Sports Med* 23: 130-135, 2002.

6) Pyne DB, Boston T, Martin DT, Logan A. Evaluation of the Lactate Pro blood lactate analyser. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 82: 112-116, 2000.

7) Tanner RK, Fuller KL, Ross ML. Evaluation of three portable blood lactate analysers: Lactate Pro, Lactate Scout and Lactate Plus. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 109: 551-559, 2010.

 Boyas S, Guével A. Neuromuscular fatigue in healthy muscle: underlying factors and adaptation mechanisms. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med* 54: 88-108, 2011. 9) Davis JM, Bailey SP. Possible mechanisms of central nervous system fatigue during exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 29: 45-57, 1997.

10) Dalsgaard MK, Nybo L, Cai Y, Secher, NH. Cerebral metabolism is influenced by muscle ischaemia during exercise in humans. *Exp Physiol* 88: 297-302, 2003.

11) Gandevia SC. Spinal and supraspinal factors in human muscle fatigue. *Physiol Rev* 81: 1725-1789, 2001.

12) Pitcher JB, Miles TS. Alterations in corticospinal excitability with imposed versus voluntary fatigue in human hand muscles. *J Appl Physiol* 92: 2131-2138, 2002.

13) Kernell D, Monster AW. Time course and properties of late adaptation in spinal motoneurones of the cat. *Exp Brain Res* 46: 191-196, 1982.

14) Kaufman MP, Rybicki KJ, Waldrop TG, Ordway GA. Effect of ischemia on responses of group III and IV afferents to contraction. *J Appl Physiol* 57: 644-650, 1984.

15) Windhorst U, Kirmayer D, Soibelman F, Misri A, Rose R. Effects of neurochemically excited group III-IV muscle afferents on motoneuron afterhyperpolarization. *Neurosciences* 76: 915-929, 1997.

16) Amann M, Eldridge MW, Lovering AT, Stickland MK, Pegelow DF. Arterial oxygenation influences central motor output and exercise performance via effects on peripheral locomotor muscle fatigue in humans. *J Physiol* 575: 937-952, 2006.

17) Tucker R, Kayser B, Rae E, Rauch L, Bosch A, Noakes T. Hyperoxia improves 20 km cycling time trial performance by increasing muscle activation levels while perceived exertion stays the same. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 101: 771-781, 2007.

18) Bangsbo J, Gollnick PD, Graham TE, Juel C, Kiens B, Mizuno M, Saltin B. Anaerobic energy production and O₂ deficit-debt relationship during exhaustive exercise in humans. *J Physiol* 422: 539-559, 1990.

19) Robergs RA, Ghiasvand F, Parker D. Biochemistry of exercise-induced metabolic acidosis. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 287: 502-516, 2004.

20) Bouhuys A, Pool J, Binkhorst RA, Leeuwen PV.
Metabolic acidosis of exercise in healthy males. *J Appl Physiol* 21: 1040-1046, 1996.

21) Krnjevic K, Miledi R. Presynaptic failure of neuromuscular propagation in rats. *J Physiol* 149: 1-22, 1959.

22) Lannergren J, Westerblas H. Force decline due to fatigue and intracellular acidification in isolated fibres from mouse skeletal muscle. *J Physiol* 434: 307-322, 1991.

23) Crenshaw AG, Karlsson S, Gerdle B, Friden J. Differential responses in intramuscular pressure and EMG fatigue indicators during low- versus high-level isometric contraction to fatigue. *Acta Physiol Scand* 160: 353-361, 1997.

24) Sahlin K, Tonkonogi M, Soderlund K. Energy supply and muscle fatigue in humans. *Acta Physiol Scand* 162: 261-266, 1998.

25) Gladden LB. Lactate metabolism: a new paradigm for the third millennium. *J Physiol* 558: 5-30, 2004.

26) Fordy GR, Marshall JM. Breathing 40% O_2 can attenuate postcontraction hyperaemia or muscle fatigue

caused by static forearm contraction, depending on timing. *Exp Physiol* 97: 362-374, 2012.

27) Maeda T, Yasukouchi A. Blood lactate disappearance during breathing hyperoxic gas after exercised in two different physical fitness groups. *Appl Human Sci* 16: 249-255, 1997.

28) Sperlich B, Zinner C, Krueger M, Wegrzyk J, Achtzehn S, Holmberg HC. Effects of hyperoxia during recovery from 5×30-s bouts of maximal-intensity exercise. *J Sports Sci* 30: 851-858, 2012.

29) Ahsberg E, Gamberale F, Gustafsson K. Perceived fatigue after mental work: an experimental evaluation of a fatigue inventory. *Ergonomics* 43: 252-268, 2000.

30) DiDomenico A, Nussbaum M. Interactive effects of physical and mental workload on subjective workload assessment. *Int J Ind Ergonom* 38: 977-983, 2008.

Chapter 4.

Influences of Psychological Task on Local Muscle Fatigue

4.1 Background

Local muscle fatigue, i.e., neuromuscular fatigue, is clear to be affected by both central and peripheral factors as shown in the Chapter 2 and 3. Since the central factor in fatigue is governed by psychological statement, such as motivation and concentration, mental tasks are easily imagined to influence fatigability in the local muscle.

Numerous research has been done to identify the interactive effects of physical and mental workload ¹⁻⁶), and many of them have shown that the additional psychological task resulted in increases in muscle tension during low-level exertions. However, there is little evidence regarding the physiological fatigability under high-intensity activities with and without psychological demand. Mehta and Agnew ⁴) observed that concurrent psychological tasks decreased muscle activities in upper extremity muscles during the performance of physical tasks at 45%, 65% and 85% MVC, while such neuromuscular responses did not occur under lower physical loads (5% and 25% MVC). They implied that this is due to the decreased joint steadiness caused by reduced output of postural muscles at higher exertion levels in the presence of mental demand. Moreover, Melin and Lundberg ⁶ suggested that influences on physical conditions led by an additional psychological task, such as increased muscle tension, may not only be caused during the task processing but also held even after work.

This study aims to identify if local muscle fatigability in quadriceps femoris is influenced by a prior psychological task. One of the important recovery objects is psychological recovery. It has been recognized that if athletes continue to fatigue psychologically, sympathetic over-arousal is caused and it eventually leads to serious physical and psychological symptoms, such as musculoskeletal injuries and depression ⁷⁾. Therefore, it is necessary to understand the relationship between muscle fatigue and psychological factors, which mainly affect central fatigue, in order to comprehend full recovery mechanism from muscle fatigue. Because increased muscle tension induced by mental demands can lead to continuous motor unit firing ²⁾, it is hypothesized that prior loaded psychological task would adversely affect the following muscle activity and the fatigability.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Subjects

15 healthy males [mean \pm *SD*, age 18 \pm 1 year, height 170.1 \pm 5.4 cm, weight 63.2 \pm 12.2 kg, BMI 21.7 \pm 3.2 kg/m²] with no self-reported cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, or musculoskeletal disorders, volunteered to participate in this study. None of them are competitive athletes, but all are physically active students at a college. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and the protocol was approved by the Koriyama Tohto Academy Educational Foundation Ethical Committee (approval number: R1107).

4.2.2 Procedures

To assess the degree of local muscle fatigue in quadriceps femoris, three parameters were used; maximum voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC), endurance time to exhaustion, and surface electromyography (sEMG) power spectrum signals.

Maxmam Voluntary Isometric Contraction. All subjects were seated on a device (T.K.K. 5710m, Takei, Japan) set with a digital dynamometer (F340, Unipuls, Japan) to measure the MVIC and test their muscle response to the fatiguing task. The subjects positioned their trunk and pelvis and were secured up-right by a pelvic belt, and both hands gripped hand grips by their side. The starting position was set as the right knee maintained an approximately 45° flexion against the unmovable leg bar. In this position, their MVIC of knee extensors, which lasted for three seconds, was performed three times at each pre- and post-endurance task, and the highest value was recorded as the pre- and post-MVIC. The values of post-MVIC were then normalized with respect to pre-MVIC to observe the rate of local muscle fatigue in different conditions.

Endurance Time to Exhaustion. The physical task was designed to fatigue the right quadriceps femoris by sustaining isometric load set at 70% MVIC for each trial. Participants were asked to maintain this load for as long as possible. The duration of muscle fatigue while isometrically contracting quadriceps femoris was recorded as one of the measurements assessing the local muscle fatigue.

Surface Electromypgraphy Power Spectrum Signals. The sEMG signals from the vastus lateralis (VL) and rectus femoris (RF) of the right quadriceps femoris were recorded using a surface electrode bipolar configuration (special order product, Emu-ii Corporation, Matsumoto, Japan) with an inter-electrode distance of 30 mm. They were aligned parallel to the fibers on the middle portion of the muscles and an earth electrode was attached on the medial aspect of the right patella. To have inter-electrode skin impedance below $5k\Omega$, the surface of the skin was wiped with alcohol swabs, and rubbed with an abrasive gel (SkinPure^(R) Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). The sEMG data were sampled at 1024 Hz, and digitally filtered by 15-500 Hz bandpass filter using BIMUTAS software (Nihon Kissei Comtech, Matsumoto, Japan). The sampling data were then divided into 10 equal epochs (named sample number 1 to 10) to normalize the length of data for group comparison. In order to analyze the frequency, fast Fourier transform (FFT) for the first 1 second of each epoch's signal was used and the power spectrum for each sample number was derived. Similar sEMG analysis has been used to measure the degree of local muscle fatigue during isometric exertions^{8,9)}. Median frequency (MF), which is known to be less affected by noise and more appropriate to assess muscle fatigue, was then calculated for each sample. The sample number 1 was excluded due to the dispersion that was probably caused by the beginning of physical task. Sample number 3-10, therefore, were normalized based on the sample number 2 to see the degree of muscle fatigue over time, which is shown by the shortening of the power spectrum.

Experimental Design. All subjects performed two protocols; 20 minute seated rest (R) and 20 minute psychological task (PT) followed by a physical task (Fig. 4.1). In order to avoid influences of delayed onset muscle soreness in the second session, subjects performed these protocols on two separate occasions at least 5 days apart. The psychological task was a series of numerical calculations taken from a Kraepelin census for a period of 20 minutes; a test using a series of additions to see how calculations were conducted in terms of speed and accuracy. To make it a more time-pressured situation, participants were asked to do the addition as quickly and accurately as possible and to move to the following line every minute, regardless of completing questions. All of the



Figure 4.1 Experimental protocols. Subjects performed rest (R; a) or psychological task (PT; b) prior to submaximal quadriceps contractions. Abbreviations: MVIC = maximum voluntary isometric contraction; sEMG = surface electromyography.

subjects were students at the same grade in the same college department, thus effects caused by differences in educational background were assumed to be minimal. The accuracy rate of each line was then calculated and normalized based on the first line's number of correct answers to see the trend of reaction during the psychological task. A Flicker test was also used to confirm the levels of excitation in the cerebral cortex before and after the calculation task. A Flicker test, which evaluates critical flicker frequency (CFF; rate of successive light flashes at the point that the sensation of the flicker disappears and it becomes steady light), had been originally used on the physiology of vision due to the measuring method, but it has been applied to evaluate the level of cortex excitation for decades ¹⁰⁻¹². Gellhorn and Hailman ¹² elicited that CFF changes nearly parallel to the levels of excitability in the neocortex assessed by electroencephalogram, and stated CFF could be a good index of the measurement of cortical excitation.

4.2.3 Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm *SD* except the values of sEMG signals which are shown by median \pm *SD*. Two-way (difference in condition; R vs. PT × time; pre- vs. post-, or shown as sample number 2 to 10) analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used for the statistical evaluation of MVIC and the MF in VL and RF, and they were followed by Tukey post-hoc tests in cases of significant condition × time interaction. One-way (time; 1-20 minutes) ANOVA with repeated measures was also used for the accuracy rate in numerical calculation followed by a Dunnett post-hoc test in order to reveal any significant changes from the start. The effects of condition on the endurance time and values of a Flicker test before and after PT were tested using paired *t*-tests. SPSS for Windows version 21.0 was used, and the statistical significant level was set to *p* < 0.05 for all analysis.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Degree of Psychological Task

Figure 4.2 shows the trend of the accuracy rate in the psychological calculation task for 20 minutes. As time progresses, the rate on a minute-by minute basis rose, and it became more obvious towards the latter half, although noted decreases of the mean score were seen in the 17th and 18th minutes. Relative to the first minute's rate, there were significant increases in the 16th (121.54 \pm 6.97%, *p* = 0.000), 19th (121.33 \pm 7.91%, *p* = 0.000), and 20th (123.79 \pm 8.73%, *p* = 0.000) minutes. In addition, another parameter of the psychological task, a Flicker value, was also significantly increased post-psychological task (39.32 \pm 1.87 cps, *p* = 0.008) in comparison with pre-task (36.55 \pm 1.58 cps) (Figure 4.3).

4.3.2 Value of Maximum Voluntary Isometric Contraction

Figure 4.4 depicts a change in the mean rate of MVIC at pre- and post-physical fatiguing task for both rest (R) and psychological task (PT). The significant effect of R and PT was observed for the MVIC rate ($F_{(1,14)} = 5.108$, p = 0.04), and it was confirmed with a



Figure 4.2 Accuracy rate in psychological calculation task. For 20 minute calculation, the accuracy rate tended to increase towards the last, and compared with the first minute, 16th, 19th and 20th minutes presented significant increases (121.54 \pm 6.97%, 121.33 \pm 7.91%, and 123.79 \pm 8.73%, respectively, ***p* < 0.01).



Figure 4.3 Values of Flicker test. Before performing the psychological task, the mean of Flicker value is 36.55 ± 1.58 cps, and it significantly climbed to 39.32 ± 1.87 cps (**p < 0.01) at the post-calculation task.

significant difference at post-MVIC between R and PT (98.14 \pm 15.25% and 88.77 \pm 12.14%, p = 0.045, respectively). In terms of the difference in time (i.e., pre- vs. post-), PT showed a significant decrease (p = 0.012) at post-MVIC compared to pre-MVIC, though R

did not elicit such neuromuscular response (p = 0.949).



Figure 4.4 Mean values of MVIC at R and PT. There was a significant decline in post-MVIC in PT compared to pre-MVIC although it did not show any difference in R between pre- and post-exercise (*p < 0.05).

4.3.3 Endurance Time to Exhaustion

The sustained period of muscle contraction at 70% of individuals MVIC showed no significant difference between R and PT. Compared with R (81.0 ± 34.5 sec), PT tended to shorten the duration (56.0 ± 30.9 sec), however, the *p*-value remained at 0.076. Nine of the participants (n = 15) demonstrated a shorter muscle contracting period following PT than R, though 2 of them did not change, and 4 of them even prolonged it.

4.3.4 Surface Electromyography Power Spectrum Signals

Figure 4.5 presents changes in MF of VL and RF of quadriceps femoris respectively, for R and PT across sample numbers 2 to 10 normalized by the MF of no. 2. All power spectrums in quadriceps femoris demonstrate significant shifts from high frequency band to low frequency band towards the end (R of VL; 92.4 \pm 14.3%; *p* = 0.048, PT of VL; 86.4 \pm

16.1%; p = 0.002, R of RF; 87.3 ±9.5 %; p = 0.000, and PT of RF; 82.1 ± 9.1%; p = 0.000 at all no.9), which is known as an indication of local muscle fatigue ^{8, 9, 13)}. The lines of R in VL and RF each drew a diphasic figure when the power spectrum shortened, although those diphasic figures disappeared after the psychological task in both LV and RF, and these lines went down smoothly over time. This tendency is more definite in RF than those in VL. There was no significant difference in MF between R and PT through sample number 2 to 10 for both VL and RF (VL: $F_{(8,112)} = 1.123$, p = 0.353; RF: $F_{(8,112)} = 84.253$, p = 0.193).



Figure 4.5 Changes in sEMG median frequency (MF) of VL (a) and RF (b) (**p < 0.01). MF in R showed a diphasic figure when the frequency is shortening, however, it disappeared in PT. Though the same tendency is seen in the result of VL, it was more marked in RF.

4.4 Discussion

The main findings in this study have shown that a 20 minute psychological workload increased the excitation level in the cerebral cortex (i), and the psychological workload followed by a physical task at 70% MVIC adversely influenced on the post-force production and changed the patterns in MF of sEMG signals over time (ii).

More Profound Local Muscle Fatigue Caused by Psychological Task. Considering the extent of the psychological task, the task might make participants' psychological states, such as concentration and attention levels, to be more facilitated based on the result of an increase in the calculation efficiency towards the end (Figure 4.2). It has been recognized that accuracy rate in Kraepelin test generally draws a U-curve or V-curve due to tiredness in the middle and increased motivation at the end of calculation¹⁴⁾. In the present study, the rate slowly increased in the first half and it showed a V-curve only between the 16th and 20th minutes. This might be because participants were not familiar with the test at the start, and then they became used to it as they progressed with the calculation, which resulted in the steady increase in the first half and a notable V-curve in the final quarter. Moreover, indications on the calculating task may not be sufficient to maximally force subjects at the first part, therefore they might not fatigue till the last part of the test. In addition to the result of Kraepelin test, since an increment of Flicker values (Figure 4.3) indicates that the levels of excitation in the cerebral cortex became higher, it could be seen that the psychological task used in this study raised the excitation level in the cerebrum.

In terms of local muscle fatigue in the quadriceps femoris, the sEMG power spectrum presented significant shifts from high to low frequency bands in both VL and RF (Figure 4.5) during static exertions. From this finding, the target muscles were understood to reach states of acute local muscle fatigue in all conditions. This acute muscle fatigue could recover quickly as shown in the MVIC result of R (Figure 4.4), however the application of a 20 minute calculating task prior to the exercise increased cerebral excitation levels and was thought to cause a more profound local muscle fatigue in the knee extensors. This could be interpreted that the excitation in the cerebral cortex after PT was brought by increased activation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, where the facilitated activity during psychological demands has been recognized ¹⁵. Since muscular contraction requires the activation of the same area of the cortex ¹, the following physical task might be performed under less available attentional resources than that in condition of R, resulting in a decreased rate of muscular force immediately after the exertion.

Changes in Values of MVIC. Fatigue is often defined as a reduction in the capacity to

generate maximal force of the muscle ¹⁶, and strength decline has been accepted as a gold standard of muscle fatigue indicator ¹⁷). The present study showed a greater reduction in the rate of post-MVIC following PT than R, which implies that PT negatively influenced the level of local muscle fatigue in the quadriceps femoris. Similar results have been reported in studies done by Mehta and Agnew⁴⁾, and Macdonell and Keir³⁾, who applied psychological demands during high force production. Although the current study did not require physical and psychological tasks simultaneously, the effect of PT was thought to be sustained after the task, and it resulted in a prolonged increase muscle tension ^{2, 6)}. This might lead to maintained firing in low threshold motor units²⁾, which mainly innervate slower type 1 muscle fibers⁺¹ and are related with postural control. Mehta and Agnew⁴ discuss that mental demand accompanied with physical task decreased shoulder joint steadiness, and it might be caused by a decreased output in the postural muscles. Since reduced joint steadiness demands more superficial muscle, i.e., type 2b muscle fibers*², activity to maintain the required force production $^{3)}$, it would be understandable that the value of post-MVIC, governed by mainly type 2b fibers, decreased after PT, and showed quicker progression of fatigue in this study.

Trend of Shorter Duration of Muscle Fatigue. Though the endurance time following PT tended to be shortened compared to that of R, it did not show a significant difference between them statistically. A similar result was reported in the research of Mehta and Agnew ⁵⁾ who revealed that the effects of mental demands on endurance time was more evident at 35% MVC than the higher rate of 55% MVC. There are several possibilities for these findings under high force levels to be considered.

First of all, local muscle fatigue is divided into three components based on the levels where the causes of fatigue occur; central fatigue (1), fatigue at the neuromuscular junction (2), and muscle tissue fatigue (3) (Figure 1.2)¹⁸⁾. Central fatigue (1) is associated with the central nervous system that blocks off the motor unit to avoid damage in muscles ¹⁹⁾, and it has been widely recognized to be influenced by psychological statement, such as motivation and mental fatigue ²⁰⁾. Fatigue at the neuromuscular junction (2) is a mechanism that the available resource of the neurotransmitter, i.e., acetylcholine, is drained by

repetitive or continuous muscle contraction, and muscle tissue fatigue (3) relates to metabolization in muscle tissue including the accumulation of proton and structural changes ^{21, 22)}. Due to the high force (70% MVIC) used in the present study, peripherally induced fatigue, like muscle tissue fatigue, might influence more powerfully than central fatigue, therefore, it might mask the centrally caused effects, i.e., psychological task effects, resulting in no significant changes in endurance time between R and PT.

Secondly, a demonstration of longer time to exhaustion has been used to imply improvements in fatigability in many areas ¹⁶, in other words, time to exhaustion has been recognized as an indication of the levels of fatigue. However, some authors state that sports tests which use time to exhaustion are unreliable and have a high coefficient of variation ²³, and there is also a large variability between time to exhaustion and decreases in MVIC ²⁴. This is because endurance time indicates the exact point which local muscle fatigue has completely occurred and is no longer maintaining the required force level ²⁵, while reduced muscle strength is thought to be associated with the degree of progression in muscle fatigue ¹⁷, 16

Diphasic Figure and the Disappearance in sEMG Power Spectrum Signals. When muscle was fatigued, the sEMG power spectrum has been recognized to shift from high frequency band to low frequency band, as it demonstrates that faster type 2b muscle fibers reflecting the higher frequency components of the sEMG spectrum to become less active over time ¹³⁾. Although this tendency was seen in both R and PT of both VL and RF, there was no significant difference in MF between R and PT throughout the exertions. This finding indicates that similar successive changes in quadriceps femoris occurred, and similar fatigued conditions were reached at the end of the physical task, in the absence and presence of a prior psychological task. Those spectrums in R of VL and RF, however, showed diphasic figures in contrast to those in PT, which smoothly decreased to the end point. Physical demand isometrically done at higher force level tends to demonstrate more fluctuated changes in sEMG spectrums than that done at lower force level ⁸⁾, and the current study also presented the same trend in R. Force production at high intensity may require participants to be psychologically motivated, thus the psychological emphasis might be represented as the diphasic figures ⁸⁾. Since the motor pool appears to be wholly activated when muscle contraction is done at levels between 50-85% MVC ²⁷⁾, the force used in this study required higher demands on the excitability of the motor cortex in order to maintain the neural drive. Moreover, given that a psychological task decreases the available attentional resources in the brain and the effects are sustained afterwards ²⁸⁾, the prior psychological task in the current study has the potential to cause such central effects, and thus it resulted in the reduced psychological emphasis in the sEMG spectrum in the following physical task.

4.5 Conclusions

Psychological task; a series of single figure calculations for 20 minutes, used in this study increased the excitation levels in the cerebral cortex, and it induced a more profound local muscle fatigue in the quadriceps femoris. From the point of neuromuscular aspects, the results of MVIC and sEMG power spectrum signals emerged that the psychological task would have an impact on available attentional resources of the prefrontal cortex which is also activated by muscular contractions. This would be because greater local muscle fatigue was observed in PT compared to R.
References

 Dettmers C, Lemon R. Cerebral activation during the exertion of sustained static force in man. *NeuroReport* 7: 2103, 1996.

2) Lundberg U, Forsman M, Zachau G, Eklof M, Palmerud G, Melin B, Kadefors R. Effects of experimentally induced mental and physical stress on motor unit recruitment in the trapezius muscle. *Work & Stress*: 16, 166-178, 2002.

3) Macdonell CW, Keir PJ. Interfering effects of the task demands of grip force and mental processing on isometric shoulder strength and muscle activity. *Ergonomics* 48: 1749-1769, 2005.

4) Mehta RK, Agnew MJ. Effects of concurrent physical and mental demands for a short duration static task. *Int J Ind Ergonom* 41: 488-493, 2011.

5) Mehta RK, Agnew MJ. Influence of mental workload on muscle endurance, fatigue, and recovery during intermittent static work. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 112: 2891-2902, 2012.

 Melin B, Lundberg U. A biopsychosocial approach to work-stress and musculoskeletal disorders. J Psychophysiol 11: 238-247, 1997.

Brukner P, Khan K. In: *Clinical Sports Medicine*. P.
 Brukner and K. Khan, eds. North Ryde: McGraw-Hill
 Australia Pty Ltd., 2007, pp. 102-107.

8) Terasawa K, Fujiwara T, Yanagisawa K, Sakai A, Ueda G. EMG analysis of muscle fatigue during isometric contraction of the indicis proprius. *Jpn J Phys Fitness Sports* Med 41: 108-116, 1992 (JPN).

9) Allison GT, Fujiwara T. The relationship between EMG median frequency and low frequency band amplitude

changes at different levels of muscle capacity. *Clin Biomech* 17: 464-469, 2002.

10) Gellhorn E, Hailman H. Effect of anoxia on sense organ. *Fed Proc* 2: 122-126, 1943.

11) Simonson E, Enzer N. Measurements of fusion frequency of flicker as a test of fatigue of the central nervous system. *J Ind Hyg Toxicol* 23: 83-89, 1941.

12) Walker AE, Woolf JI. Mechanism of temporal fusion effect of photic stimulation on electrical activity of visual structures. *J Neurophysiol* 6: 213-219, 1943.

13) Basmajian JV. In: *Muscles Alive, Their Functional Revealed by Electromyography.* 4th edition. JV.
Basmajian ed. Baltimore: The Williams & Wilkins
Company, 1979, pp79-114.

14) Noda K. Re-examination of the "typical normal curve" of Uchida-Kraepelin psychological test: A comparison of 1987's curve with 1937's. *Bull Nagoya Univ* 45: 37-44, 1997 (JPN).

15) Rowe J, Toni I. The prefrontal cortex: response selection or maintenance within working memory? *Science* 288: 1656, 2000.

16) Williams C, Ratel S. In: *Human muscle fatigue*. 1st edition. C. Williams and S. Ratel eds. Abington: Routledge, 2009, pp3-16.

17) Vøllestad NK. Measurement of human muscle fatigue. *J Neurosci Methods* 74: 219-227, 1997.

 Merletti R, Rainoldi A, Farina D. In: Electromyography – Physiology, Engineering, and Noninvasive Applications. 1st edition. R. Merletti and P. Parker eds. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2004, 233-258. 19) Dedering A, Németh G, Harms-Ringdahl K. Correlation between electromyographic spectral changes and subjective assessment of lumbar muscle fatigue in subjects without pain from the lower back. *Clin Biomech* 14: 103-111, 1999.

20) Boksem MAS, Meijman TF, Lorist MM. Mental fatigue, motivation and action monitoring. *Biological Psychology* 72: 123-132, 2006.

21) Cifrek M, Medved V, Tonković S, Ostojić S. Surface EMG based muscle fatigue evaluation in biomechanics. *Clinical Biomechanics* 24: 327-340, 2009.

22) Guillot A, Haguenauer M, Dittmar A, Collet C. Effect of a fatiguing protocol on motor imagery accuracy. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 95: 186-190, 2005.

23) Jeukendrup A, Saris WHM, Brouns F, Kester ADM. A new validated endurance performance test. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 28: 266-270, 1996.

24) Vøllestad NK, Sejersted OM, Bahr R, Woods JJ, Bigland-Ritchie B. Motor drive and metabolic responses during repeated submaximal contractions in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 64: 1421-1427, 1988.

25) Hagberg M. Muscle endurance and surface electromyography in isometric and dynamic exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 51: 1-7, 1981.

26) Fitts RH. Muscle fatigue: the cellular aspects. *Am J* Sports Med 24: S9-S13, 1996.

27) Hostens I, Ramon H. Assessment of muscle fatigue in low level monotonous task performance during car driving. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol* 15: 266-274, 2005. 28) Lorist M, Kernell D, Meijman T, Zijdewind I. Motor fatigue and cognitive task performance in humans. *J Physiol* 545: 313, 2002.

Terminology

*¹ type 1 muscle fibers; are tonic and slow-twitch muscle fibers, and they generate a low level of muscle tension but can sustain the contraction for a long time. These fibers are geared toward aerobic metabolism and are very slow to fatigue.

*² type 2b muscle fibers; are phasic and fast-twitch muscle fibers, and they generate a great amount of tension in a short period of time. These fibers are geared toward anaerobic metabolic activity and tend to fatigue quickly. Chapter 5.

Conclusions and Practical Applications

This study examined if recovery from local muscle fatigue is enhanced by supplementation of oxygen under the normobaric hyperoxic environment and attempted to reveal the relevance with central and peripheral factors in neuromuscular fatigue. Furthermore, in understanding the comprehensive recovery mechanism, it examined the influences of psychological task, which is thought to cause central fatigue, on fatigability in a lower extremity muscle.

Hyperoxia therapy has been considered and applied in sports field for the purpose of healing musculoskeletal injuries, increasing performance level, and accelerating recovery from daily training. While the evidence is mixed, it became obvious from the results in the Chapter 2 and 3 that when in need of oxygen, supplemental oxygen will work efficiently for athletes, such as exposure to hyperoxia "during" aerobic activity and the "recovery phase" from oxygen debt. In other words, when in conditions that sufficient oxygen is already supplied in the tissues, hyperoxia will not provide any additional effects, such as the use of oxygen supplementation "before" exercises.

Based on the results in the Chapter 2, it is recommended to coaches and field practitioners to utilize 30 minutes of exposure to normobaric hyperoxia as a recovery strategy from local muscle fatigue acutely developed by anaerobic exercise in training and competitions. By doing this, athletes would be able to perform as well as before without leaving the influence of local muscle fatigue, although performance may decrease approximately 10% if they had stayed under normoxic environment for the same duration. Chapter 3, which used intensive intermittent exercise as the physical workload, also revealed that two 15 minute recovery sessions in normobaric hyperoxia enhanced the restoration of MVIC and the recovery rate would be approximately 14% greater in hyperoxia than in normoxia.

While the favorable influences of hyper-oxygenation to the muscle tissue have been recognized, there are several considerations that should be noted in terms of applying the findings in this study to practical situations. Firstly, although each recovery session was set up for 15 minutes in the Chapter 3, the required time for recovery would need to be longer such as 30 minutes in the Chapter 2. This is because that the recovery rates of MVIC in

HOX followed the same course as those in NOX even after the completion of the first recovery session, i.e., at T3 and T4 in the Figure 3.2. Given that the value of MVIC was significantly restored at T5 which was just after the conclusion of the second recovery session, it would be more effective for subjects to rest for more than 30 minutes under HOX. Second, the muscle used throughout the study was the quadriceps femoris whose muscle volume corresponds to approximately 2.0 to 2.5 kg per lower extremity ¹⁾, thus there should be caution when migrating the results to whole body training and competitions. However, it is still possible that a large muscle group exercise is affected in a similar way to a single muscle and improved by an increase in oxygen concentration in the air.

Chapter 4 made clear that 20 minute calculating psychological task increased the cerebral excitation levels and it caused a greater local muscle fatigue in the lower extremity. Given that these findings were brought under high-intensity isometric contraction, it is possible to consider the application of this result into sports field which people are often required to play under stressful conditions physically and psychologically. This kind of activity demands high levels of concentration, resulting in increased excitation in the cortex. Along with maximum physical exertions, it would accelerate the progression of local muscle fatigue and delay the recovery from the fatigue due to the prolonged effects of psychological demands. From this point of view, athletes and coaches may need to be careful about mentally more stressful conditions, like crucial and important matches and games, and to prepare adequate strategies for quicker recovery from the muscle fatigue in order to avoid the onset of sports related musculoskeletal injuries.

As stated in the introduction of the Chapter 1, local muscle fatigue is a complicated phenomenon containing influences of numerous factors such as central and peripheral elements. This might be the major reason why athletes have continued to develop sports-related injuries in this medically developed modern society. It is, therefore, our responsibility to keep up searching the recovery mechanism from local muscle fatigue, and providing new evidence regarding how athletes could be recovered psychologically as well as physically. I would hope that this study would help coaches and trainers to understand a part of recovery mechanism and eventually help athletes to reach their dreams. I would be

74

definitely glad to support these dreamers by continuing to develop my research work.

Reference

1) Radegran G, Blomstrand E, Saltin B. Peak muscle perfusion and oxygen uptake in humans: importance of precise estimates of muscle mass. *J Appl Physiol* 87: 2375-2380, 1999.

Published Papers

- Yuka Yokoi, Ryuya Yanagihashi, Katsuyuki Morishita, Masaaki Hanaoka, Takayuki Fujiwara, Koji Abe. Influences of Psychological Task on Local Muscle Fatigue in Quadriceps Femoris. *Journal of Applied Bio-metrology* 4: 15-24, 2013.
- 2) <u>Yuka Yokoi</u>, Ryuya Yanagihashi, Katsuyuki Morishita, Takayuki Fujiwara, Koji Abe. Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia on Recovery of Local Muscle Fatigue in Quadriceps Femoris among Young People. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science* [In press: will be appeared in the Vol. 26, No. 3, March 2014].
- 3) <u>Yuka Yokoi</u>, Ryuya Yanagihashi, Katsuyuki Morishita, Noboru Goto, Takayuki Fujiwara, Koji Abe. Recovery Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia on Central and/or Peripheral Factors in Muscle Fatigue. *Journal of Japan Academy of Health Sciences* [In press: will be appeared in the Vol. 16, No. 4, March 2014].

Referencing Paper

 Yuka Yokoi, Ryuya Yanagihashi, Katsuyuki Morishita, Noboru Goto, Takayuki Fujiwara, Koji Abe. Recovery Effects of Repeated Exposures to Normobaric Hyperoxia on Local Muscle Fatigue. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research* [In press].

International Conference Presentations

- <u>Yuka Yokoi</u>, Ryuya Yanagihashi, Katsuyuki Morishita, Takayuki Fujiwara, Koji Abe. Influences of Psychological Task on Local Muscle Fatigue. Japan-Korea 1st Joint Conference in Nagasaki JAPAN, 2012.
- 2) Yuka Yokoi, Ryuya Yanagihashi, Katsuyuki Morishita, Takayuki Fujiwara, Koji Abe. Effects of Exposure to Normobaric Hyperoxia on Recovery of Local Muscle Fatigue in Quadriceps. The 6th International World Confederation Physical Therapy – Asia Western Pacific Region & The 12th Asia Confederation for Physical Therapy Congress in Taichung TAIWAN, 2013.